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In memoriam Jane Longhurst


Introduction

“The attraction of the internet to so many people is you can be whoever or whatever you want to be. If you want to be Walter Mitty, you can be Walter Mitty. If you want to be out of the mainstream sexually, you can find company on the internet.”

—PAUL JONES, INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY IN THE HUMANITIES, UNIVERSITY OF VIRGINIA

In April 2009, newspapers and TV news shows around the world reported that police had arrested the suspected murderer of Julissa Brisman, a 26-year-old masseuse from New York, who was shot to death and robbed in a posh Boston hotel. There was reason to believe that the murder was related to assaults on two other women in New England hotels over the past 18 days.

Serial murders of sex workers are nothing new, of course. Jack the Ripper became notorious for such crimes in Victorian-era London, and Ted Bundy achieved worldwide infamy by confessing to 30 murders of young women from Washington state to Florida in the 1970s. But the Boston killing of Ms. Brisman captured media attention because of a startling difference: the perpetrator had met all his victims via an online classified advertising site—a concept that neither the Ripper nor Bundy could possibly have imagined. While few readers may recall the name of this defendant (whom we will not identify here because his trial remains pending), his news media nom de guerre, the Craigslist Killer, has become a household phrase.

Reports of the Craigslist killings alerted many people for the first time of the very real evils that had been lurking in cyberspace for some time. The case heightened public awareness that “cybercrime” involved much more than “phishing” for bank account and social security data. Suddenly, the world realized that standard and seemingly harmless chat rooms, social networks and dating agencies could be alligator-infested cyber-swamps populated by real live rapists, homicidal maniacs and worse. What’s worse than a homicidal maniac, you may well ask? Well, how about a cannibal who delights in sharing his victim’s cooked flesh with … his victim. You’re about to meet him. Read on!

In fact, the Craigslist Killer was not the first or only murderer to be so labeled by the news media. Since October 2007, when the monicker was first used as a nickname for a murder defendant by the Saint Paul Pioneer Press, at least seven other “Craigslist Killers” have been convicted in the United States. It may be that the term suddenly caught on only in the 2009 Boston homicide because we, the public, have lately come to realize that this and other violent cybercrime problems have grown so widespread that we need new words to discuss the unspeakable.

Cybercrime in all its manifestations is often—and no doubt accurately—said to be the fastest-growing field of criminal enterprise throughout the world. Besides the all-too-familiar fraud and identity theft schemes flooding from internet bases in some African and Eastern European nations where internet law enforcement is either lax or complicit, crimes that are increasingly aided, abetted and enabled by internet access include: classic confidence games such as Ponzi, Spanish prisoner and lonely heart scams; homicide in its diverse manifestations; assisted suicide and pact suicide; human corpse abuse; sex slavery; suicide bombing and other terrorist acts. Imprisoned convicts are continually devising original ways of soliciting money and sympathy from behind prison walls. Hate groups ranging from Al Qaeda to the Ku Klux Klan and Aryan Nation have found the internet to be by far the most effective means for recruiting like-minded would-be terrorists worldwide. And then there is what many experts believe to be the most all-pervasive and corrosive of all computer-based crimes—child pornography. Deemed to be so heinous that even in countries like the U.S., where garden-variety hardcore sex tapes are protected by the First Amendment’s Freedom of Speech clause, the justice system treats “kiddie porn” along with torture, snuff and necrophilia images, as beyond the pale. Yet all are just a mouse-click away from almost any place in the world.

Cyberspace is a strange place, full of both happy and spine-chilling surprises. For instance, there were certainly some unpleasant surprises in store for luckless 28-year-old Trevor Tasker. This Englishman from North Yorkshire has understandably given up using the internet since discovering his new love was a 65-year-old pensioner with a corpse in her freezer.

After meeting her in a chat room, the excited Trevor flew to South Carolina to meet Wynema Faye Shumate, who had posed as a sexy 30-something on the web. After hooking him with sexy chat, she had reeled him in with a semi-nude photo. Unbeknownst to her suitor, however, the shot had been taken some 30 years earlier.

Trevor’s shock on first setting eyes on his prospective lover turned to abject horror when he discovered that Wynema had put her dead housemate in the freezer. She had kept Jim O′Neil, who had died of natural causes, in cold storage for a year while she lived in his house and spent his money.

Sweet Wynema had also lopped off one of Jim’s legs with an axe because, somewhat inconveniently, he was too big to fit into the freezer. For the record, Shumate pleaded guilty to fraud and the unlawful removal of a dead body, and was given a year in prison.

Back home with his mom afterward, Trevor told the Daily Mirror newspaper, “I’ll never log on again. When I saw her picture, I thought, ‘Wow,’ but when she met me at the airport I almost had a heart attack. I certainly won’t go near internet chat rooms again.”

Well done, Trevor!

And there is a considerably more serious side to our Introduction.

On March 9, 2004, a chilly Tuesday, the BBC reported that Britain and the U.S. were setting up a group to investigate ways of closing down internet sites depicting violent sex.

“Initial steps have now been agreed by the Home Secretary David Blunkett and U.S. Deputy Attorney General Jim Comey, during a meeting at the U.S. Department of Justice in Washington DC,” claimed the feature, adding, “The Jane Longhurst murder case had horrified American officials because websites featuring extreme sexual acts were implicated in the trial of Englishman Graham Coutts, who had murdered the Brighton teacher.”

The sexual deviant Coutts trawled the web—there are more than 80,000 sites dedicated to “snuff” and other killings, cannibalism, necrophilia and rape—and then carried out his horrendous fantasy in real life by murdering Jane. The internet-inspired monster kept his victim’s body in a garden shed for 11 days before moving her to a storage facility, where he committed necrophiliac acts on the corpse.

A senior detective from the National Criminal Intelligence Service (NCIS) told Christopher Berry-Dee, who visited New Scotland Yard in 2003, “In a short period of time, the internet has become the most exploited instrument of perversion known to man. It is like pumping raw sewage into people’s homes.”

Also very much to the point is the view of Ron P. Hawley, head of the North Carolina State Bureau of Investigation division that probes computer crimes: “It used to be you were limited by geography and transportation. The internet broadens the potential for contact. It’s another place to hang out for people predisposed to commit a crime.”

In addition to the countless millions of others hooked up to the web, more than a million people now use wireless technology (Wi-Fi) to access it, and a survey found that more than a third of Wi-Fi networks in London and Frankfurt lacked even basic security measures. It’s not surprising police throughout the world are increasingly concerned about Wi-Fi cyber crime—particularly the theft of bank details from computers. And some criminals, including pedophiles, are known to leave their networks unprotected so they can pretend that any illegal activities were not committed by them, attributing the offenses instead to “piggybackers” who log on to the internet via other users’ wireless connections.

Another assessment of the internet’s potential for crime comes from Yvonne Jukes, of the University of Hull, who claims, with perhaps a little overstatement, “Cyberspace opens up infinitely new possibilities to the deviant imagination. With access to the internet and sufficient know-how you can, if you are so inclined, buy a bride, cruise gay bars, go on a global shopping spree with someone else’s credit card, break into a bank’s security system, plan a demonstration in another country and hack into the Pentagon, all on the same day.”

Used with caution, the internet can be an educational and fun place. In fact, most of us have become so reliant on it that we could not conceive of a world without it. At the same time, we’re aware of the havoc that can be wrought by viruses on e-commerce when criminals or other hackers attempt to sabotage the web. Indeed, a particularly virulent virus—and more sophisticated forms are being developed all the time—could cause a catastrophe costing billions of dollars—one at least as economically devastating as the 9/11 attack on New York’s Twin Towers or Hurricane Katrina’s ravaging of New Orleans.

Most people seem to agree that, on balance, the worldwide web has improved our lives. However, among its defenders are those who claim that the advent of the internet, and even the ever-growing availability of virtual pornography, has in no way increased the overall crime figures, least of all that the medium has sparked an escalation in fraud, sexual and violent crime, or murder.

This book sets out to show that these commentators, well meaning though they may be, could not be more misguided. For the shocking truth is that at no time in human history has crime rocketed to such epidemic proportions over such a short period. A major element in this rise is internet-related crime, which is increasing exponentially, and we can thank thousands of the webmasters hosting sites and search engines for helping things along the way.

To ignore this simple truth is to deny it. Some of us bury our heads in the sand, citing freedom of speech or civil liberties, wishing to demonstrate political correctness or simply concluding, “Ah well, the web is too powerful now to tackle the problem.” But, if we follow this line of thinking, we will all soon live in a world where anything can happen to us and those appointed to defend our freedoms can do little, if anything, about it.

This brings me back to the well-meaning plans of David Blunkett (the former U.K. Home Secretary has since 2004 been succeeded by four other Home Secretaries in five years, most recently Alan Johnson) and the U.S. Deputy Attorney General to shut down violent pornography sites. The reality is that, despite a massive U.S.-U.K. crackdown in recent years, internet child pornography, much of it appallingly violent and degrading, has become a global epidemic of monstrous proportions. In Japan, for instance, Justice Minister Mayami Moryana has said, “The internet is fueling a steady increase in child prostitution and pornography. It is a multi-million-dollar child sex trade.”

But this is just one disturbing issue; U.S. law-enforcement agencies are buckling under the pressure of investigating and bringing to justice all types of internet crime-related offenses. Funding for police is not infinite, nor is manpower. The policing system is creaking, even falling apart, because a large part of these valuable resources is now being diverted to combat well-organized internet crime and lesser offenses sparked off by the easy access to the web for the criminally inclined.

Right across Europe and in many parts of Asia, we find a mirror of America’s law-enforcement problems, with most countries now admitting almost total defeat in their efforts to curb internet-related crime or closing down sites displaying illegal material. The constant problem is that, as soon as a site is shut down, it reopens under a different domain name. As soon as a problem is located and stopped in one place, it re-emerges somewhere else—often in a more virulent strain—and the perpetrators do not even have to leave their desks to achieve it. In the absence of border controls—cyberspace is by its nature very difficult to police internationally—web-based criminality has become a cyber pandemic.

This is the dilemma now faced by the United States, the U.K. and other nations. It is a difficulty compounded in many countries by different interpretations and applications of civil and criminal law and, in the U.S., by jurisdictional complications in law enforcement and by civil liberty laws that differ from state to state.

Yet there have been remarkable successes by the multinational task forces set up to catch both those who set up and those who visit child sex sites, and these are down to following the money trails, nearly always by identifying credit-card transactions. But any legislation agreed between the United States and the U.K. can only apply to sites set up in these countries. And even this is set to be further undermined in the U.K. as it is due to cede to Brussels much of its own ability to make law and dispense justice, rendering Anglo-American plans to get tough on internet crime all but meaningless.

One major area of crime where the internet’s rapid spread has become a highly effective tool is the people-trafficking industry. According to BBC Channel Four′s docudrama Sex Traffic , over 50,000 women are sold into the U.S. sex-trafficking trade each year, and most of the complex logistics are handled using the internet. Trafficking as a whole is growing to such an extent that experts estimate that anywhere from 700,000 to four million persons are now being traded annually throughout the world.

The “Brides for Sale” business and similar internet scams cost Western males in excess of £4 million a year, and on the subject of this trade George M. Nutwell III, Regional Security Officer in the U.S. State Department at the U.S. Embassy in Kiev, has written to the authors, “Ukraine has recently experienced a burgeoning crop of escort services and ‘marriage brokers’ plying their trade on the internet. Your readers are cautioned against falling into the new Ukrainian ‘Love Trap.’”

A single scam against an Englishman netted a Russian internet dating agency around $11,000—the staggering, if not obscene equivalent of 25 years’ wages for the average Russian citizen. By Western standards, this would be about $500,000. However, the flip side of the coin must not be ignored, for there are hundreds of web pages of advice on how to sensibly approach the task of finding a foreign bride on the internet. Many authorities say that if those seeking a wife are so dumb that they cannot find this advice, or choose to ignore it, they deserve all they get.

We are, as a global society, standing on the edge of the cyber abyss, and it is not a matter of if, but simply when, a crazed maniac DVDs a snuff murder and puts it on the web. In fact, this horrifying reality is already upon us, with obscene, yet professionally shot, footage having been sent down the pipe of the beheadings of Englishman Ken Bigley and U.S. citizens Daniel Pearl, Eugene Armstrong, Jack Kensley, Nicolas Berg and Paul Johnson, among others, as well as horrendous images of the decapitation and shooting dead of a group of Nepalese workers.

Best known among the crazed maniacs responsible for displaying such atrocities is Jordanian militant Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, who uses the internet as a powerful propaganda tool and a means to recruit followers.

Anyone who has viewed these terrifying images cannot fail to be sickened, yet accessing them via any search engine takes moments, and the authors have learned that scores of school children in their early teens have viewed them and boasted to their friends, who in turn have logged on to the sites.

However, the decision as to whether to ban these sites is left to the discretion of the ISPs (internet service providers) and, while a few have made them impossible to view, others make them viewable within seconds.

People being executed, victims of the most horrific homicides, train suicides and many more obscenities—all are readily available to those whose lives are apparently empty of compassion for their fellows, those with little else on their minds but human suffering, and whose minds are readily seeded with images of the worst depravities being committed in the world today.

This book is not just about the offenders who commit internet crime. It also focuses on the web industry, revealing the most shocking facts about who actually sponsors the hosting of porn and crime on the internet.

When you study the facts in these pages, the worldwide web will never seem the same again. For we turn the spotlight on the real pimps and you will learn that the internet as we know it today would implode if funds from the porn producers dried up.

So, while governments may attempt to outlaw and eradicate websites showing violence and hardcore pornography, ultimately it falls to the morality of the ISPs to decide what is hosted and what is not, and it’s here that we find the biggest problem of all.

One of the world’s biggest internet companies, Digex, has Microsoft as its largest customer; its second largest customer is the sex industry. The internet industry will not admit to the pervasiveness of pornography on the internet because it profits enormously from pornography in all of its extreme forms.

As an exhibitor at an adult entertainment trade exhibition said, “The whole internet is being driven by the adult industry. If all this [products at an online prostitution industry trade show] were made illegal tomorrow, the internet would go back to being a bunch of scientists discussing geek stuff in email.”

It may require a Herculean effort, but an international code of conduct is needed to police the internet, with search engines being required to conform rigorously to the agreed standards. It is far easier to close down an international search engine than to nitpick away at individual sites—a time-consuming, costly and ultimately unrewarding exercise.

In truth, the authors are very mindful of the flip side of the coin: these undesirable sites would not exist if millions of visitors did not frequent them and graze on their contents. And because it’s a two-way street, these surfers must share responsibility for the sites’ existence.

The Internet Watch Foundation says that the world wants the web and so now we have to live with all of its consequences, like them or not. The genie is out of the bottle and flying about our heads wherever we are on the planet.

One of the few safeguards—and a feeble one it is—is that most pornographic sites contain warnings about their content and the decision as to whether or not to enter them is left to the individual.

The authors’ research for this book confirms that a large number of people have become addicted to various types of internet sites and that corresponding types of crime are rising rapidly as a consequence. It proves too that those who harbor thoughts and fantasies of committing such crimes find encouragement and support by logging on.

In the course of this investigation into the internet’s grip on the criminal world, and by extension on the lives of all of us, we enter many chilling true-crime nightmares.

Christopher Berry-Dee, 2006



Armin Meiwes: Internet Cannibal

“It was passable, but a little tough; it would have been better braised… and the wine, a Riesling, was not at all correct, too sweet, lacking body, next time, perhaps, a Pomeral.”

—ARMIN MEIWES ON EATING HIS VICTIM′S PENIS

“There are several hundred people with cannibalistic tendencies in Germany alone, and many thousands around the world. Cannibalism has always been around, but the internet reinforces the phenomenon. You can be in contact with the whole world and do this anonymously.”


—RUDOLF EGG, CRIMINOLOGIST

The internet has highlighted that there are at least one million people who harbor sexualized cannibalistic fantasies. Discussion forums and user groups exist for the exchange of pictures and stories of such fantasies. Users of these services fantasize about eating, or being eaten, by members of their sexually preferred gender. This cannibalistic inclination, known as paraphilia, is one of the most extreme and popular sexual fetishes.

Today cannibals can shop on the internet for someone to consume. And, to judge from the following case, there is no shortage of websites to titillate people who are eager to be killed and eaten.

But one thing is sure: over the coming years there will be no shortage of people for flesh-eating killers to feed on. The cannibal cult followers themselves operate under disguised names or completely phony identities in the darkest crevices of cyberspace. People such as Laura, who pleads her bona fides in poor English. “Please don’t tell me I’m sick,” she writes. “It is just a fantasy, but the realism of it turns me on so much.” Or Robert, who cuts very much to the chase: “I already have a young, pretty, slightly plump married woman from Iowa offering herself to be eaten.”

Most of these people are doubtless fantasists, sexual deviants or plain old fruit bats, but their messages are nonetheless ice-cold chilling, because one of these modern-day would-be cannibals and his willing victim have now stepped out of cyberspace, evolving before our eyes from the virtual into the visceral.

It may be hard to digest, but it appears we live in a time of cannibals. The question is, how can such savagery exist in a supposedly sophisticated world?

When Armin Meiwes, a shy, fair-haired man who lived with his mother, went sailing with his army buddies, he would always make pasta. “He didn’t eat much himself,” remembered Heribert Brinkman, who organized the trips. Meiwes, it seemed, had an appetite for something different, but it was not until March 2001 that dinner was finally served to his satisfaction.

In the tiny central German village of Rotenburg, in the centuries-old farmhouse bequeathed to him by his mother, Meiwes often sat at the kitchen table and dined on steak with pepper sauce, potatoes, sprouts and a glass of red wine. It is not known what the wine was, but eventually the meat would be from a two- rather than a four-legged source.

While Mrs. Meiwes was alive, Armin was restrained. Her son was the apple of her eye, and she dominated his very core, so that his fantasies remained just that. Her death in 1999 released the sick side of his soul, which then found the nurture it needed on the internet. But Meiwes was apparently no serial killer. Unlike the American Jeffrey Dahmer, who killed 17 men and ate parts of them, or Andrei Chikatilo, who murdered and gorged on as many as 50 men and women in Russia, Meiwes was in search of not so much a victim as a collaborator, a fellow chef who would provide the principal ingredient.

And into that role stepped 43-year-old Bernd-Jurgen Brandes.

This computer software designer from Berlin had a predilection that was not to everyone’s taste: he paid male prostitutes to whip him until he bled. Now, on Sunday, March 11, 2001, he relaxed in the large, comfortable chair offered to him by Meiwes and sipped from a tumbler of cognac. A contented half-smile played across his host’s lips, for this was the moment Armin had been waiting for. He had prepared meticulously for what was now, finally, starting to unfold.

Brandes had written his will and had it notarized. The bulk of his estate, including a sprawling, luxury penthouse apartment, along with a small fortune in computer equipment, had been bequeathed to Rene, his blithely unaware male partner. And he had sold most of his belongings, including an expensive sports car. He wouldn’t be requiring these material trappings where he was going.

His wish was to be butchered, cooked and eaten.

Something else Rene could not have suspected was that, when Bernd had informed his bosses at Siemens that he was taking the Friday off “to attend to some personal matters” he would not be coming back.

With several thousand dollars in cash and his passport tucked inside his jacket, Bernd traveled 185 miles from Berlin to the farmhouse near Kassel where he now sat with his drink. His pulse raced, while the warm cognac slowly dulled his senses. He smiled contentedly, knowing he had been very methodical indeed.

Armin Meiwes, the gentleman whom he had first met through the internet some months before and who now stood beaming broadly in front of him, had been methodical too. Calling himself “Frankie,” he had patiently posted more than 80 notices on a gay internet chat room with cannibalism as its central theme, waiting calmly for just the right individual to reply. When Bernd, who styled himself “Cator,” finally answered, both men quickly realized that their mutual fantasy would become something much more. After all, it is without question that both parties knew what the other wanted, and this was confirmed in a video recording that captured every sickening moment.

Meiwes had been fishing—trawling might be a more apt term—and on cannibal fetish websites he had encountered a handful of willing participants who took the bait, swam into the net by visiting his home to admire his newly constructed cage and slaughter room, then allowed him to draw lines on their bodies to illustrate the choicest cuts and even let themselves be suspended upside down by a chain and pulley.

Meiwes’s culinary plans didn’t come to fruition with any of these candidates, but he was a patient fellow. It was not until early 2001 that his message, “Searching for a well-built young man who would like to be eaten by me,” was greeted by, “I am offering myself to be eaten but alive. No slaughter but consumption.”

Who would reply favorably to an invitation like “Gay male seeks hunks 18-30 to slaughter,” unless that nightmarish sentiment stirred something deep and secret within?

From the start secure within the confines of the rambling half-timbered house so painstakingly customized by his host, Bernd placed his glass on the table beside him and rose. Smiling, he embraced the tall man standing before him and allowed himself to be led out of the room and along a narrow hallway. Once in Meiwes’s bedroom, he lay down on the bed and, with that same vapid smile on his face, he watched as the 41-year-old man produced something sharp that gleamed in the lamplight.

Bernd closed his eyes and waited.

First he felt his fly being unzipped and then his slacks slowly being tugged off. Meiwes was gentle but firm, wary of doing anything that might spoil the coming moment. Bernd snapped at him, “Just do it. Just cut the thing off!” Taking Bernd’s flaccid penis in his hand, Meiwes drew the razor-sharp blade slowly across the member several times until it separated from his guest’s body.

The pain must have been excruciating and the flow of blood powerful, but this Meiwes partly staunched with a wet towel. Without immediate medical assistance, Bernd would bleed to death, but death is exactly what he wanted.

Both men were unable to consume the penis raw and, unfortunately, when Meiwes tried to cook it, he burned it black.

With Bernd bleeding heavily from his mutilated groin and his time running out, the two men agreed to forgo the first course and head directly for the main dish. With a glass of wine in one hand, the guest proffered the “delicacy” to his host. Meiwes gladly accepted and, as Bernd looked on, he savored the heady sensation of realizing this powerful mutual fantasy, then took up his knife and fork.

In the yellowy light of the dining room, the delighted castrator tucked into this most succulent, although overdone piece of flesh, savoring it as one might a tender venison steak. He had taken the liberty of frying the organ in garlic butter—he had trusted his guest had no objections. Then, after voicing his approval, he gestured for Bernd to join him and both tucked in.

After dinner, Meiwes waved away his guest’s polite offer to help him clear the table. He invited him instead to sit down and make himself comfortable with another cognac. Before long, the two men repaired again to the bedroom, where, after saying goodbye to the almost unconscious Bernd, the gracious host took one last longing glance at the crudely cauterized, gaping, bloody hole between his new friend’s legs.

It took many hours for the man to die, during which time Meiwes read a Star Trek novel before setting to work with the sharpest of his bread knives.

Meiwes had a video camera rolling at the time. He had decided early on in the proceedings that he would allow himself the opportunity to relive this moment time and again. Similarly, Bernd’s willing emasculation, followed by the unforgettable meal, was captured for posterity.

After Meiwes had finished plunging his knife into his guest’s throat, he picked up his video camera and dragged the bloody corpse into his special room. It was here, after he had suspended the body from a meat hook, that the next phase of the ritual began.

At peace in his self-constructed abattoir, surrounded by heavy metal hooks and drains, Meiwes opened the body from groin to sternum and gutted it as one would a deer. Throughout the night he labored, hacking and severing until finally, one dismembered corpse later, it was time to separate the choicer fleshy morsels and render them into what he would later describe as “meal-sized packets.”

With his special food supply placed in his freezer along with the dead man’s skull, he disposed of the cumbersome bones and teeth—and let us not forget the innards—by burying them in the garden.

Meiwes would consume a piece of his friend almost every day, but he never finished the task, for frozen chunks of Bernd-Jurgen Brandes were discovered in his home on his capture on December 10, 2002. Indeed, the crime only came to light when Meiwes, having chewed through 44 pounds of his victim, began to search for another dish on the internet, and a correspondent invited to become a meal took fright.

After being tipped off by worried internet chat room users about the existence of disturbing ads placed by Meiwes, undercover police officers posing as respondents quickly determined that the ads were meant literally. When Meiwes was eventually arrested, his reaction was one of confusion. Why was he being taken away? No crime had been committed. He contended it had all been completely consensual, a congenial arrangement for their mutual pleasure—victim and killer, in it together. The cops, however, took a somewhat different perspective, and the protesting Meiwes was promptly marched off to the police station.

From the very start of his sensational trial, which opened in Kassel on a suitably overcast day, Wednesday, December 3, 2003, Meiwes’s primary objective, with the aid of his lawyers, was to convince the jury that he was not a murderer. This they ultimately achieved. The prosecution struggled laboriously to secure dual convictions pertaining to “sexual murder” and “disturbing the peace of the dead.” But the fact that videotaped evidence showed beyond a shadow of a doubt that Brandes had been perfectly happy to have his peace disturbed after his demise did not help their case one bit.

After taking in the evidence that the victim had been a willing participant in his own killing, the court was shown the videotape. The pair had clearly been in agreement about filming the killing and the subsequent butchering.

Brandes was seen explaining that, for him, being eaten would be the fulfillment of a dream. As the carnage began, the video revealed two men locked into a very private world.

One of those viewing the grisly film, which also showed Meiwes talking to the severed head while he disemboweled the body, actually fainted.

The court heard that the killing had taken place in March 2001. Brandes had been reported missing at this time. The judges heard how, for the defendant, the act of eating another human being was akin to the merging of two souls. It was the nearest feeling Meiwes could experience to being close to another person.

At the trial, and with considerable understatement, both Meiwes and Brandes were described as “having mental difficulties,” and Meiwes did little to dissuade psychologists from persisting in this notion. He disclosed in detail how he had achieved his closeness with Brandes by eating pieces of him for more than a year and stated that by so doing he had gained the dead man’s ability to speak English.

On the topic of the unique dinner, the defendant had an important culinary message to impart. After first trying, unsuccessfully, to bite off Brandes’s penis—at his request—he decided that it should be severed with a knife. The freshly removed organ was then sautéed, flambéed and prepared to be served. Meiwes, with a touch of Hannibal Lecter’s panache, delivered his verdict on the dish: “It was passable, but a little tough. It would have been better braised.” He paused before adding, “And the wine, a Riesling, was not at all correct, too sweet, lacking body. Next time, perhaps, a Pomeral.”

Later, with the slaughtered Brandes in pieces in his freezer, Meiwes positively reveled in dining every day on this special meat. Retrospectively, the self-confessed connoisseur of human flesh commented, “Honestly, I’ve taken a fancy to American-style cuts rather than traditional German or French.”

A brief background of the defendant was supplied by the usual gamut of family, friends and neighbors, who described the killer as pleasant and mild-mannered, a mostly quiet man who kept himself to himself.

He had served a dozen years in the German Army as a noncommissioned ordnance officer and was said to have been an amiable and conscientious military man. After leaving the armed forces in 1991, Meiwes retrained as a computer technician and started working for a software company in the Rhine Valley city of Karlsruhe.

Evoking vividly the shades of Norman Bates from Hitch-cock’s Psycho, Meiwes had lived with his mother in the farmhouse and remained there for several years after her death. One neighbor had put it succinctly for reporters: “He was a mama’s boy.” The young Meiwes had been totally fixated with his overbearing mother, who had never let him have a girlfriend. Meiwes, who in any case preferred boys, had meekly acquiesced. He himself later recounted how his desire to eat another man had begun during puberty and that his fantasy had become so powerful over the years that he always knew he would one day enact it.

Had Meiwes been convicted of murder he would most likely have ended up spending the rest of his life in prison. Considering the ghastly acts involved, justice would surely have demanded no less. Instead, after adhering more to Meiwes’s lawyer’s claim that his client had merely assisted in a suicide, a panel of judges decided to convict the cannibal of manslaughter. He was sentenced to eight and a half years in jail.

The sentence equates to just over two years for every ten pounds of Bernd-Jurgen Brandes that Meiwes cooked and ate.

Though the court rejected the defense solicitor′s main argument, that Meiwes should be convicted of “killing on request,” a form of illegal euthanasia carrying a shorter sentence of six months to five years, it was agreed that he could not be found guilty of murder.

Judge Volker Muetze, one of those presiding at the trial, said the deed was “viewed with revulsion in our civilized society,” but, on the basis of the very clear video evidence presented, Meiwes had not committed murder, the hushed courtroom was informed. Instead, he had displayed “a behavior which is condemned in our society, namely the killing and butchering of a human being. Seen legally, this is manslaughter, killing a person without being a murderer.”

As the verdict was read, Meiwes maintained the same relaxed posture he had throughout the two-month trial, where he had earlier been given the opportunity to question witnesses against him. This he had done in a most precise and unemotional manner.

Meiwes had been waiting for many years for an opportunity to realize his gruesome fantasies. With the advent of the internet he seized his chance. Taking full advantage of the medium’s success as a huge dating agency, he was able to cast his net for prospective candidates. It transpired that Meiwes had “auditioned” four other potential victims who had agreed to be examined for physical suitability by the prospective killer.

Hooked by internet ads proclaiming lurid offers like “I could just gobble you up” and “Let me feast on you,” these four individuals—three from Germany and one from London—traveled separately to Meiwes’s house for their interview and examination. Three of the men baulked when faced with the reality of being cannibalized, having initially assumed it was all part of some erotic role-playing game. The fourth was rejected as “pudgy and unsexy” by the very particular Meiwes.

Continuing to trawl the internet in search of the perfect human meal, Meiwes eventually stumbled across his main course.

After his trial and sentencing, it was observed by many eminent authorities that on his release—possibly as early as 2008—it is unlikely that he will become a repeat offender.

One expert on cannibalism, an author named Jacques Buval, felt slightly differently about the matter: “Cannibalism is like pedophilia. It is in him. You can’t cure it. He will want to do it again.” Judge Muetze made this disturbing observation: “We have learned through this process that there is a massive cannibal following out there [on the internet].”

The sentence was appealed by the prosecution, resulting in a new trial in April, 2005. A psychiatrist at the second trial testified that Meiwes “still had fantasies about devouring the flesh of young people” and, if released, could reoffend. The court re-sentenced him to life imprisonment for murder.

So how many other ghouls like Armin Meiwes are presently at work, flourishing as a result of the ease of ensnaring their prey over the internet? Dozens, hundreds, thousands?

Research has shown that there are an estimated 10,000 cannibal websites, with millions of equally lonely people who sit for hours and hours in front of their computer screens, fantasizing about eating someone—perhaps you!

The Meiwes case has opened the door on something far more insidious and pernicious: the secret world of the suburban cannibal, and the internet is the key.

The four men who met Meiwes before he killed Brandes were clearly prepared to indulge in a deep and dark sexual fantasy, part bondage and part flagellation. They allowed him to wrap them up in cellophane and mark out their body parts as joints of meat. When they chickened out, Meiwes let them go.

Countless websites linked to hard-porn sites are dedicated to cannibalism and portray horrific photographs of women apparently being prepared for eating by roasting and boiling alive.

Are the Western world’s eating habits changing, or what?


Saul Dos Reis: Outsider

“I have many qualities which make me unique. I’m romantic, always funny, I always have a positive attitude and have many hidden things as well.”

—SAUL DOS REIS AS HE ADVERTISED FOR PEN PALS ON THE WEB FROM JAIL

Twenty-five million Americans visit cyber sex sites for between one and ten hours a week, while another 4.7 million log on for in excess of 11 hours per week. And when Saul Dos Reis, a 24-year-old Brazilian national living in Greenwich, Connecticut, lured 13-year-old Christina Long to her death, he used the internet to help him.

On May 17, 2002, Dos Reis would meet the pretty, golden-haired schoolgirl. Before he left her that night, he had raped and strangled her.

Dos Reis looked anything but threatening. One has only to glimpse this man, who appears to be more like a boy, to form this opinion. A slender-faced, shy-looking fellow, he looks as though he would be more at home delivering the local paper, smiling meekly if ever he earned himself a tip. But Saul was a wolf in sheep’s clothing, seemingly charming, even bookish, yet simmering with anger at the all-American girls because he resented the stigma that he felt came with his Brazilian heritage here in the United States. Quite wrongly, he perceived himself to be a second-class citizen. He had low self-esteem and, although not unattractive to the opposite sex, he felt that he was unable to form a meaningful relationship with a girl in the face of the competition from his thoroughbred American peers.

As he grew older, this view of himself as someone different—someone who couldn’t even speak English when he came to America, so had no chance of chatting to the desirable girls he would see on the school bus—remained with him long enough for Saul to develop a serious grudge against young white females. And, as he would quickly discover after arriving in New England’s “Nutmeg State,” Connecticut was anything but the Land of the Free.

Saul had first set foot on North American soil as a ten-year-old immigrant. This thin, outwardly unassuming boy with thick, dark hair and coffee-colored skin would learn fast that girls in the United States could be quite selective as to whom they spent their time with. This seemed to him to be a pervasive attitude and the impressionable young outcast, in his strange new land, did not care for it one bit.

He festered, withdrawing into a dark world of bitterness and frustration, to become a brooding, sullen loner. Young Saul, with South America in his blood, had felt very much out of place when his family first came to Fairfield County. In Greenwich, with its 60,000 residents, he was not only a long way from home but also felt all the more isolated as he was part of the mere 1.4 percent of the town’s population that was of Hispanic origin.

In conservative Connecticut, pleasant beaches and rolling hills share the land with bustling cities and seafront casinos; it seems there is something for everybody. With such scenic treasures as Litchfield Hills, Housatonic River and Connecticut River Valley, the state also boasts a variety of parks, quaint village greens and hiking and biking trails. It also has its fair share of deep ravines. If a body were tossed into one of these it could be some time before anybody would find it.

Locked away in his small bedroom, Saul Dos Reis spent hundreds of hours on his computer. Soon he had gained a lot of experience of using chat rooms to ensnare underage girls. In cyberspace he could reinvent himself. He could become anyone he so chose.

Enchanted by the masses of syrupy dialogue spewing forth from him, impressionable teenage girls were very keen to engage with the young and pleasant-looking Dos Reis, who, if they were lucky, would send a photograph of himself. Of infinitely greater importance to the man on the other end of the modem, they would send through a picture of themselves.

He would pore over these images, fantasizing about all the things he could do to an attractive, all-American teenage girl. The pictures the girls sent in return only added more excitement to the anticipatory conversations they had shared online.

In 1998, Dos Reis had met a 15-year-old-girl from nearby Prospect with whom he had built a shadowy relationship in a chat room. The girl consented to intercourse with the tightly wound internet Casanova and, for reasons unknown, she was not harmed. Four years and countless obsessive chat room babblings later, Christina Long would not be so fortunate.

Pictures of Christina show a truly lovely young girl. Facing the camera, she is not bashful but smiles happily, her pretty features framed by her flowing golden-brown hair. To Dos Reis, she was a delightful-looking creature, poised and full of life. At her Catholic school, where she was a sixth grader, Christina was a good student. Besides heading the cheerleading squad, she was an altar girl.

“I’m so devastated,” said Andrea Cappiello, Christina’s onetime fifth-grade English and religious education teacher, when asked to comment on the sad death of her former pupil. “She was a very good student and a very good cheerleader. She was very spirited, just a doll.” But the girl also evidenced a harder side. “She was streetwise,” Andrea said. “But you could see the other side coming up, too. It’s clear she was very torn in both directions.”

For Christina was not without her problems.

After striking up some online conversations—chats which became increasingly sexually overt—the ostensibly all-American girl began to fall for the worldly seeming allure of Dos Reis. For example, apparently referring to a Lexus car, he used the screen name “Hot_es300” for the model. Obviously, his intention was to convey smoothness. And along with this came a barrage of lewd dialogue. As Danbury Police Chief Robert Paquette later revealed, “There was some pretty graphic stuff [in the chat room logs].”

Indeed, Christina was no stranger to sexual encounters with partners she had met over the internet. She had become absorbed in an ultimately destructive pattern of dating boys she had conversed with online. And sex was something she was more than prepared to engage in with her “boyfriends.”

She had come to the town of Danbury two years previously to live with her aunt, Shelly Riling, because her parents were heavy drug users. Riling, very concerned about her niece’s welfare, was eventually awarded custody of the girl. She apparently didn’t know anything about Christina’s online activities, although she had had to speak to her more than once about the late nights she sometimes kept.

Over the next several weeks, Dos Reis was finally able to persuade Christina to meet him. The two had several sexual encounters before their fateful rendezvous at the Danbury Fair Mall, and their final fatal date took place in the back seat of Saul’s car.

As Dos Reis is the last man to have seen Christina alive, we must rely on his word as to what occurred in the events leading to her murder. It is doubtful that the version offered by this rapist and strangler of a young girl has any real mooring in truth, but it is nonetheless instructive when exploring the mindset of a sexual criminal and his rationalizations.

Dos Reis later insisted to police that not only had Christina wanted sex but also that she had requested “rough sex.” Unfortunately, this had been taken a little too far and she had somehow accidentally ended up strangled and dead. If Dos Reis expects us to believe that in the throes of passion he had inadvertently choked his young partner, let us note that it takes around five minutes to strangle somebody to death.

Allegedly panicked by this sudden surge of violence, the young man drove to a remote ravine, where he dumped Christina’s body.

Not long afterward, when the police had linked him via an email indicating that he had agreed to meet Christina on that Friday night, Dos Reis immediately caved in and told them his story. With the FBI involved, it was at their insistence that he led them to Christina’s violated corpse. He displayed not a trace of the bravado that had been the staple of his relationships with his “girls.” Rather, like a naughty puppy, he hung his head in shame. It seemed that his days of surfing the net for young teens were over. As it later transpired, this wasn’t the case.

Dos Reis was later arraigned in the U.S. District Court in Bridgeport on a charge of using an interstate device—the internet—to entice a child into sexual activity. He was ordered held without bond, with a bail hearing scheduled for later that week.

At his trial in Bridgeport, which lasted from Monday, March 3, to Monday, July 7, 2003, he pleaded guilty to manslaughter and three counts of second-degree sexual assault.

Sniffling and speaking so softly that the judge had to ask him repeatedly to speak up, Dos Reis, now 25, apologized for killing Christina Long. “I have not had a single night of sleep when I don’t wake up drenched in sweat,” he said.

Presiding Judge Patrick L. Carroll III said the apology should have come sooner. “That time for mercy was the evening your victim died at your hands,” he admonished the defendant.

During the “victim impact” phase of the case, and before handing down the maximum sentence allowable for the crimes, Judge Carroll heard several tear-filled statements from members of both Dos Reis’s and Christina’s families.

Christina’s grandfather, Lawrence Long, held nothing back, calling Dos Reis a “habitual predator” who used his computer, flashy car, money and previous life experiences to lure Christina to her death. Dos Reis’s supporters presented an entirely different picture, testifying as to how he had provided free meals to the needy at his father-in-law’s restaurant. When his father-in-law’s wife had cancer, Dos Reis cared for her and even shaved his own head to make her feel more comfortable while she underwent chemotherapy.

After listening attentively to both sides, the judge handed down what he could: 30 years in a state prison on manslaughter and sexual assault charges. It was also made known that in September of the previous year Dos Reis had received a 25-year federal sentence on two charges of traveling in interstate commerce to engage in illegal sex with a minor.

Ten years of the federal sentence was to be served consecutively with the state sentence—a total of 40 years behind bars.

There was one niggling issue, however, and that was whether or not U.S. District Court Judge Stefan Underhill was unreasonable in the matter of Dos Reis’s sentencing, when he handed down a term that did not quite adhere to the usual sentencing guidelines. Under these guidelines Dos Reis’s offenses would have called for a sentence of a little more than seven years.

Later, in the Second Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals, James Lenihan, Dos Reis’s lawyer, argued that the sentence was “unlawful” and should be sent back to the district court to be “substantiated.”

Lenihan also said that the district court “mistakenly noted that age was a factor to be considered” under the guidelines, but in fact the guidelines did not make reference to the victim’s age.

Although Christina’s death was not an element of the federal charge, the federal judge took the killing into consideration during the penalty phase. Kevin O′Connor, the state attorney for Connecticut, argued that Judge Underhill did not make a legal error. O′Connor said the departure was justified because the defendant “knowingly risked the life of his victim when he choked her.” He said the sentence was reasonable “in light of the horrific circumstances of the defendant’s strangulation of Christina, dumping of her dead body, and efforts to cover up his involvement.”

Christina’s death received national attention and sparked a push in Congress for a kids-only domain on the internet. On May 27, 2003, it was announced that legislation allowing Connecticut Police to more swiftly investigate internet sex crimes like the one that led to the death of Christina Long had failed because state lawmakers were concerned about violating civil liberties.

So, while officials praised the quickness of the FBI in tracking down Dos Reis, state experts and local police felt that Connecticut’s reliance on federal agencies was unwise, given the rapid spread of internet sex crime. “Everybody has their own job to do,” said Danbury Detective Captain Mitchell Weston, “and we were lucky in this case that the FBI wasn’t in the middle of something.”

It seemed unlikely that the killing could have been prevented. FBI spokeswoman Lisa Bull said the FBI learned of previous contact between the girl and the older Dos Reis only during the investigation into her killing.

Laws proposed in the General Assembly would have helped track down the perpetrators in cases where police have knowledge of illegal internet contact between adults and children. The bureau responsible for dealing with internet crime—comprising only state police—have written bills empowering state authorities to more easily obtain internet users’ identities and communications logs.

In theory, these bills would have encompassed not only the use of internet messages to lure someone to a potentially indecent encounter, but also the murkier depths of the provision of indecent imagery of children. Unfortunately, they did not survive the legislative committee process.

Griswold’s Democrat representative, Steven Mikutel, a co-sponsor of one of the bills, said the legislature did not have the political will to make it law. “There is a group out there that doesn’t want to put any restrictions on the internet,” he said, adding, “They don’t want to invade anyone’s privacy. But public safety factors have to come into consideration here.”

Danbury Police Chief Robert Paquette offered this: “You’re getting into civil liberties now. I don’t think either the federal government or the state can go that far.”

Later, another man who had had sex with the clearly underage Christina was put out of commission. On March 15, 2004, 24-year-old Carlos Estanqueiro, also a former resident of Danbury, was sentenced to 46 months for the offense. He had pleaded guilty the previous December to using the internet for the purposes of “persuading a minor to engage in sex.”

Estanqueiro, it materialized, had met Christina over the internet in February 2002. The pair had subsequently engaged in sexual activities several times.

New Haven U.S. District Judge Janet B. Arterton ensured that, in addition to the prison time Estanqueiro would serve, there would be an additional three years of supervised release. It was further stipulated that Estanqueiro register as a convicted sex offender on his release. Arterton also ordered that he undergo mental-health counseling, not frequent locations where children are known to congregate and not use a computer except for work-related purposes. Estanqueiro was also an illegal alien. As such, he could be subject to deportation after serving his time.

The battle to protect children from internet stalkers continues. On one website visited by the authors, it is clear that help is available:

“The freedom that makes the internet so useful also makes it dangerous. In teen chat rooms, sexual predators can hunt for their victims online, 24 hours a day,” it warns. The existence of links such as “Wise up to Internet Predators,” “Protecting Kids From Internet Porn” and “Children, Sex and the Web” makes it clear that at least we are on the right track.

A lawyer and expert in the field of internet abuse, Parry Aftab, says, “Internet predators attempt to lure thousands of children every year to offline meetings.”

These are her guidelines:

• Who’s at risk?

• What’s the profile of an internet child molester?

• How often does this happen?

• Why do the children meet strangers offline?

• What can you do to protect your children?

• What’s being done to find these predators before they hurt a child?

• Whom do you call if you suspect someone is involved with targeting children online?

A survey of 10,800 teenage girls conducted in 1998 showed that 12 percent of the sample admitted to meeting up with strangers with whom they had first made contact via the internet. Two years later, Family PC reported that, in a survey of both sexes, 24 percent of the teenage girls polled and 14 percent of the teenage boys were meeting internet strangers offline.

It is truly a shame that Christina Long did not benefit from the various safety precautions now available on the internet. It took her death, among so many others, to bring home to us the dangers of the internet. Had her online activities been more closely monitored through this kind of education, she might never have had the opportunity to come into contact with her dysfunctional killer. Dos Reis was then, and in all likelihood still is, a very dangerous man.

As an obscene postscript to this terrible crime, it was discovered several years later that Dos Reis was up to his old tricks again, this time inside prison. In search of female correspondents, he had set up a web page, although this now appears to have been removed. He included a photograph of himself, this time smiling and sporting a tuxedo. Above the ad he had selected the heading “The Right One.”

On his web page, Dos Reis went on to describe his perfect pen pal as “A woman with a good heart that loves to write and that is not afraid of being herself,” adding, “I also look for a person that knows what she wants out of life.”

His readers could learn that “I have many qualities that make me unique. I’m romantic, always funny, I always have a positive attitude and have many hidden things as well. I enjoy writing and being silly and funny” and “I also always have interesting things to talk about. I’m not just another boring pen pal…”

He decided to inform his prospective lonely hearts that he had been convicted of second-degree assault. So, with just a slight deviation from the truth yet again, the “Outgoing Heterosexual Male” made it apparent that he “prefers female correspondents but will reply to all letters.” He also claimed to be “very good at telling stories which can and will have you shiver.”

Christina’s aunt, Shelly Riling, was shocked by the web page, denouncing it as a prime example of “predatory behavior.” However, Dos Reis’s defense attorney, Peter Tilem, argued that his client’s web page is understandable. “This is someone who is going to spend the next 30 years in prison and he’s lonely and scared,” he said. “We can’t imagine how lonely he feels, so I can understand.”

According to inmate.com, prisoners can place an ad for four months for $60 and $15 for each subsequent month. The website designs and posts the ad for the subscriber. Purchasers of premium advertisements, such as Dos Reis, are given a personal email box that allows people to respond to the ad via email. Once a week the service forwards the email responses to the inmate in a letter. And what a nice little earner this is for the site’s owners. For seed money outlay, they rake in $37,000 a year by making it possible for people such as Dos Reis to involve other people in their sickening fantasies from behind bars.

Christina’s aunt did not share Tilem’s assessment. “I can’t believe he has a website. It shows that he has a disease and is incurable. He hasn’t learned anything.”

Investigators involved with the Dos Reis case were at a loss to find a motive for the murder. Indeed, even the killer himself was unable to cast much light on his reason for strangling the young woman. However, we know from experience that many people who spend long periods of time in chat rooms become of another world.

These individuals find themselves becoming addicted to the chat rooms and perceive themselves as engaging in very real relationships with other visitors. They are people who have in most cases reinvented themselves to compensate for their own psychological and/or physical shortcomings. For those addicted to the chat rooms, it becomes a meeting of loners who bring all of their psychological inadequacies along with them.

These people actually fall in “cyber love”—in much the same way as couples do in the real world. Saul Dos Reis seems, for whatever reason, to have fallen in love with Christina Long in this way. He had become “fantasy-driven.” After years of rejection, he imagined he had found his ideal partner, even though she was underage. Christina was promiscuous, and her sexual appetite, coupled with her pretty looks, no doubt further increased his need for her companionship. Nevertheless, after she had had sex with him a few times, the feisty girl wanted to dump him and move on. Rejected, and scorned again, Dos Reis killed her.

This scenario of a cyber crime passionnel is not quite as crazy as it first appears, as the following cases testify.

On February 15, 2004, a man was found trying to commit suicide at his home in Wuhan, China. Afterward, he admitted that he had killed his cyber lover on Valentine’s Day evening.

The man, using the net name “Flying Dust,” got to know “Rain Drop,” a 25-year-old flower-shop keeper, at the end of 2003. They met in a chat room, but Rain Drop’s parents disapproved of her having such an intimate online relationship. So, on Valentine’s Day, she told Flying Dust that she had to break up with him. He flew into a rage, strangled her to death and then tried to cut the arteries on his neck and wrists. “I love her, I want to be with her forever,” he said later when asked why he had done it.

On Saturday, April 17, 2004, a man’s body was found in a hotel room in Dengshikou, Beijing. Zhang Yang had been killed by his cyber lover, Liang Yixia, because he refused to marry her. Liang was arrested when she came back to get her cell phone charger.

According to Liang, in May 2003 she had been raped by three men she met on the internet, and they also took her money. After her ordeal, Zhang, a seemingly gentle and rich man, renewed her trust in cyber love. But, once they had had sex, he told her that for him to marry a cyber lover was impossible. Liang felt so humiliated that she fed him sleeping pills before strangling him with adhesive tape.

At the police station, Liang said she felt no regret for what she had done. “He deserved this punishment I gave him,” she said repeatedly.

In 2001, a West Australian Supreme Court jury found a woman guilty of murdering her internet lover, after he tried to dump her when he discovered that she was married to a biker. The woman was caught on the home-security video of the man she murdered and is now serving a mandatory life sentence for the crime.

Thirty-four-year-old Margaret Hinchcliffe met Michael Ian Wright, aged 30, in an internet chat room, and the two soon began a sexual relationship. In November 1999, Hinchcliffe’s husband, Mark, found out about the affair and inflicted a series of punishments on his wife, driving her to seek help at a women’s refuge on two occasions. A worker from the refuge told the court that Margaret had been badly beaten by her husband and that he had ordered her to shave her head. He also ordered her to have a tattoo done on her waistline that read “Property of Mark Hinchcliffe.”

Mark Hinchcliffe, a member of a biker gang who called themselves the Coffin Cheaters’ Club, visited Wright and threatened him after beating him up. He then ordered his wife to kill Wright, an order she carried out on Sunday, February 25, 2000.

Margaret Hinchcliffe went to the home of Wright’s parents, and when Wright opened the door she shot him at point-blank range, unaware of the fact that the video security system had captured the act on film.

In Columbus, Ohio, Rickie Mandes slipped his old .45-caliber handgun into his pocket before taking one last moment in his lonely apartment to think about his two daughters. Within a few hours, those two girls, aged 9 and 15, would be fatherless. Their lives would be shaken by a nightmare of violence, jealousy and revenge. Mandes would be dead, and so would Robert J. Fry, the man he believed had stolen his wife’s affection over the internet.

Mandes felt his daughters needed some kind of explanation. And so, in a hastily scrawled note to them, he tried to provide one, writing that the pain and stress he felt after his wife, Rebecca, had left him for a man she had met over the internet was “too much for me to take. I am sorry for what I am about to do.”

Authorities said the 45-year-old Mandes confronted his wife and her new lover in the parking lot of the mail-order store where Fry worked and gunned him down, then turned the weapon on himself.

Acquaintances of the Mandeses, who had known the couple in happier days, closed ranks and have refused to discuss the events that led to the brutal murder and suicide. “They want their privacy,” said longtime friend Tammy Campbell of the surviving members of the family.

According to police, the slaying was sparked by an internet romance that had blossomed over two and half months between 34-year-old Rebecca Mandes and 40-year-old Fry.

A little more than a month and a half after the whirlwind online romance began, Fry suddenly quit his job of 22 years at the Orient Correctional Facility in Ohio. He left his wife and children and moved with Rebecca Mandes and her two girls into a house in the pleasant waterfront community of Westerly. Two weeks before the shooting, he took a job in the receiving department of Paragon Gifts store.

By all accounts, Rebecca’s decision to move out of the apartment she and her husband shared in Pawcatuck was equally abrupt.

There were a few domestic loose ends to be tied up, which provided Mandes with the opportunity he needed to exact his revenge on the man he believed had stolen his wife, so he and his wife had arranged to meet in the parking lot of Paragon Gifts about noon to exchange some items belonging to the daughters.

For a while they stood just outside the office window of Paragon Gifts’ president Stephen Rowley, waiting for Fry to leave work for his lunch break. About a dozen employees were milling about, and a little after 12:30 p.m. Fry approached the pair.

With that, witnesses told police, Mandes pulled out the gun, said something to the effect of “This is what you get for messing with my wife” and opened fire.

Stephen Rowley heard “what I’d call a pop, several of them close together,” he said. “Then there was a moment of silence, and another pop,” which he later learned was the sound of the final bullet that crashed into Mandes’s skull, killing the jilted husband instantly.

Rebecca Mandes was not injured in the attack.

The broken-hearted man had left a short suicide note, simply saying, “I guess she’s doing all right.”


Demo version limitation


Demo version limitation


Sharon Lopatka’s Cyber World

“Hi! My name is Nancy. I am 25 have Blonde hair, green eyes am 5’6 and weigh 121. Is anyone out there interested in buying … my worn … panties … or pantihose….??? This is not a joke or a wacky Internet scam. I am very serious about this. If you are serious too you can e-mail me …!”

—MESSAGE POSTED BY SHARON LOPATKA IN AN AREA OF THE INTERNET WHERE SEXUAL EROTICA IS THE MAIN TOPIC

“I don’t know how much I pulled the rope… I never wanted to kill her, but she ended up dead.”


—BOBBY GLASS ON THE MURDER OF SHARON LOPATKA

There’s not much to Lenoir, North Carolina, a town of 14,000 at the foot of the Blue Ridge Mountains. The monument to the Daughters of the Confederacy in the town square watches over another losing battle, this one economic. Downtown slips silently into the embarrassed embrace of loan companies, storefront churches and used-clothing shops. The stagnant center is skirted by highways, busy chain stores and fast-food outlets. It would not be quite right to say people in Lenoir are surprised at killings in their midst, because they get around six murders a year, even if they could not have dreamed up the scenario that follows.

Rural America no longer is, and maybe never was, quite so sheltered as its apple-pie image suggests. “People think that, because this is a small town, these things don’t happen. It’s not true. We have people here no different than the big cities,” said Brenda Watson, owner of the Carolina Cafe at 209 Main Street NW. “And I wouldn’t let my kids walk alone here at night.”

Indeed, former district attorney Flaherty claims, “Most of the murders are love triangles, but when Lopatka lost her life she also lost her anonymity, and she was none of the things she claimed to be.”

In fact, according to her autopsy report, she was dark-haired with dark eyes set into a heavy face and five foot ten and 189 pounds when she died. Far from the wild video star she claimed to be, she lived her life quietly in a ranch-style home in Indian Court, a cul-de-sac in the quiet, hilly town of Hampstead, Maryland, where children play tag in front yards, dogs tease the post-man and deviancy is a failure to join recycling efforts.

When Lopatka graduated from Pikesville High School in Baltimore in 1979, her name was Sharon Denburg. She had many friends and was a member of the volleyball and field hockey teams. During her junior and senior years, she was a nurse’s aide, a library aide and a singer in the school’s chorus.

“She wasn’t an outcast or anything of that nature,” said Steven Hyman, who attended school with her. “She was about as normal as you can get. I think making her this weird loner is just some media thing.”

Sharon Denburg was the oldest of four daughters born to Mr. and Mrs. Abraham J. Denburg in 1961. The family lived in a suburb of Baltimore. Sharon Denburg’s parents were devout Orthodox Jews, who were active in the Beth Tfiloh, Baltimore’s largest Orthodox Jewish synagogue, where Abraham was a cantor. Sharon had been active in sports, sang in the school choir and was perceived by classmates to be “as normal as you can get,” reported the North Carolina News & Observer on November 3, 1996.

In 1991, Sharon wed Victor, a Catholic construction worker from Ellicott City, but her parents did not approve. A former high-school classmate told the Washington Post on November 3, 1996, that the marriage was Sharon’s “way of breaking away.” Sharon moved with her husband to a small, ranch-style tract house in Hampstead in the early 1990s. They had no children.

Sharon started up several small internet business ventures from her home to make some extra money. She made a new friend, Diane Safar, who lived nearby, and the two of them put together a 30-page booklet on home decorating and country crafts entitled Dion’s Secret of Home Decorating Guide.

“Here we were decorating our houses one day and talking to each other for advice, and we just said, ‘Hey, we should put this stuff in a book,’” Safar explained. “We put it together and then we went around to ladies’ groups and churches selling it. It was fun.”

“What I want people to know is the woman I knew was not crazy in the slightest,” Safar said of her friend. “She was always a happy person, always bubbly even. This person who was killed was not the person I knew.”

In her business called Classified Concepts, Sharon rewrote ad copy for advertisers for $50 per advertisement. She also operated several other websites, where she sold psychic readings and advice. On the sites Sharon would also post ads selling other services, with a premium rate number for which she would receive a percentage of the revenue.

Another way she made money was by advertising pornographic videos.

All varieties of sex were for sale 24 hours a day in Sharon Lopatka’s world. She could provide nearly anything anybody desired at any time. With a tapping of her fingers on a computer keyboard, she became five-foot-six and a shapely 121 pounds. A few more taps and she was an aggressive 300-pound dominatrix who promised strict discipline. Or she could tap and become “Nancy Carlson,” a screen actress prepared to star in whatever type of sexual video her fans cared to purchase.

As Nancy Carlson, Sharon sold videos of unconscious women having sexual intercourse. According to the Augusta Chronicle of November 4, 1996, one excerpt from an advertisement dated Tuesday, October 1, 1996, stated, “Hi! My name is Nancy. I just made a VHS video of actual women… willing and unwilling to be… knocked out… drugged… under hypnosis and chloroformed. Never before has a film like this been made that shows the real beauty of the sleeping victim.”

Sharon even went so far as to advertise her own undergarments online, with a message which read, “Is there anyone out there interested in buying my worn panties?” She certainly had no qualms about advertising and selling products that would appeal to the lurid sexual fetishes of her customers. She also had her own risque sexual fantasies that she actively sought to fulfill:

“Do you dare enter… the Land of the Giantess???

“Where men are crushed like bugs… by these angry… yet gorgeous giant goddesses.”

Sharon used the web for a variety of purposes, such as to obtain business ideas and make money. However, she also used it to interact with a larger variety of people who shared her unconventional interests. She often ventured into hardcore pornographic chat rooms where subscribers would openly discuss their interests in necrophilia, bondage, fetishes and sadomasochism.

One of her ads read, “Let me customize your most exciting TORTURE fantasy for you… on VHS… to watch and enjoy privately in the comfort of your own home. A film designed by you… with scenarios of your choice. Films are shipped in plain envelopes to protect your… privacy.”

She used many pseudonyms and multiple personae in her internet messages. These “masks” allowed her anonymity and the freedom to pursue her unusual fantasies. According to the Washington Post of November 3, 1996, one message Sharon posted stated that she had “a fascination with torturing till death.”

Over several months, the North Carolina News & Observer found more than 50 messages by Sharon where the overriding theme was that she wanted to be tortured and killed. Often she would post messages looking for a man to satisfy her wish.

“I guess some people have some kind of inner thing going on that you just never know about,” said Debra Walker, Lopatka’s neighbor. “I think we knew them as well as anyone in the neighborhood. She was just like anyone else you know, and that kind of scares me in a way, to think you really never know somebody.”

A sex-rights activist named Tanith, who often visited the sites, said that she became concerned about Sharon’s strange messages. On November 3, 1996, the Washington Post quoted Tanith saying that Sharon was “going to chat rooms and asking to be tortured to death.” Tanith says she had tried to stop her, but Sharon refused. Sharon replied to the woman, “I want the real thing. I did not ask for you preaching to me.”

Sharon would sit at her computer typing furiously for hours at a time, trying to make contact with the right person to satisfy her strange desires. Numerous responses to her messages offered to fulfill her fantasy, but the senders withdrew when they discovered that her requests were serious.

Eventually, she found a man who swallowed the bait. Several weeks after meeting him on screen, her last wish was to come true.

She arrived in the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains while the foliage was still colored with brilliant oranges and yellows and reds to meet that man in person. And, police say, in the ultimate fulfillment of her desires, she was bound with rope, made to bleed and then strangled, before her nude body was dumped into a shallow grave.

The internet has been blamed for everything from spreading recipes for bombs to pushing porn to school kids, but the latest claim, that it contributed to the sex murder of a woman in rural America, sounded like an urban myth. Yet it was all too true.

Early on the morning of Sunday, October 13, 1996, 35-year-old Sharon Lopatka traveled to Baltimore and caught a train to Charlotte, North Carolina, having told her husband that she was going to visit friends in Georgia. A week later, Victor was disturbed to find a mysterious note written by his blonde wife that suggested instead a clandestine, apparently final, trip. “If my body is never retrieved don’t worry,” Sharon had written. “Know that I am at peace.”

Victor immediately called the police, who looked for evidence as to Sharon’s whereabouts on her computer. They found emails suggesting that she had visited someone in Lenoir, North Carolina.

There, on Friday, October 25, 1996, police officers found Sharon’s naked, decomposing body buried a short distance from the trailer of the person she had gone to visit. Her hands and feet had been bound with rope and a nylon cord had been strung around her neck. Investigators also found scrape marks around her neck and breasts. The medical examiner determined that she died of strangulation—the violent death Sharon had wished for.

Robert “Bobby” Frederick Glass was a 45-year-old computer analyst employed by Catawba County, North Carolina. He had worked for the county for almost 16 years and was a productive worker who was responsible for programming tax rolls and keeping track of the fuel consumption of county vehicles.

Bobby was also a computer enthusiast, according to Sherri, his wife of 14 years. But, she lamented, he had more passion for the friend on his desk than for his marriage. Her husband was no longer attracted to her and the final straw, she said, was when her children asked why their father didn’t love her any longer.

In May 1996, Bobby and Sherri separated. Shortly afterward, Sherri left the family home with their three children, daughters, ages ten and seven, and a son, age six. However, it may have been more than a lack of love that caused the break-up of the family. According to Sherri, there were other marital problems that few had known about. Each day Bobby had spent countless hours typing on his computer, and Sherri eventually became suspicious. Bobby subscribed to America Online and in his net profile he claimed to love photography, music and model railways. In a space reserved for personal quotes he had written, “Moderation in all things, including moderation.”

One day Sherri logged on and found worrisome emails saved on her husband’s hard disk. The messages which had been posted under the pseudonyms “Toyman” and “Slowhand” particularly alarmed her because of their “raw, violent and disturbing” nature.

After dinner one evening, she confronted Bobby. Later, she said that “all of the color had drained out of his face.” She realized that there was “this side to him” that was unknown to her. Despite this alarming discovery, Sherri recalled her husband as “generally pleasant, hard working and amiable.”

In August 1996, Bobby Glass and Sharon Lopatka became acquainted while visiting sexually orientated internet chat rooms. Bobby displayed a fetish for inflicting pain, whereas Sharon’s desire was to be tortured. In an email message to Bobby, Sharon wrote that she wanted to be bound and strangled as she approached orgasm. Bobby responded by describing in detail how he would fulfill her dearest wish.

Correspondence between the two lasted for several months. The police were able to recover almost 900 pages of emails from the warped couple’s computers. A senior investigator who worked on the case, Captain Danny Barlow of North Carolina’s Caldwell County Sheriff’s Department, said, “If you put all their messages together, you’d have a very large novel with a very sad ending.”

It was discovered that, at about 8:45 on the evening of October 13, Sharon’s train from Baltimore had arrived in Charlotte, where Bobby Glass was waiting, and that they had driven in his pickup truck 80 miles to his trailer home in Lenoir. The events that followed were later to become a source of speculation among police investigators.

On October 30, 1996, the police department’s newly developed Computer Crime Unit found substantial evidence in Sharon’s computer linking her to Bobby Glass. Police officers monitored Bobby’s trailer for several days. It was hoped that Sharon would be found alive there, but she was not seen during the stakeout.

Then Judge Beal issued police a search warrant for the trailer, and investigators arrived there while Bobby was at work. The ground surrounding the turquoise trailer was littered with rotting garbage and abandoned toys. The interior was equally dirty and cluttered. Among the chaos, police officers found items belonging to Sharon, as well as drug and bondage paraphernalia, child pornography, a pistol and thousands of computer disks.

Seventy-five feet from the trailer, an officer discovered a fresh mound of soil. After digging only 30 inches beneath the mound, they found Sharon’s decomposing remains. Caldwell County investigator D. A. Brown said that, if the body had been buried in the woods behind the trailer, “we would have never found her.”

That same day, Bobby Glass was arrested at his workplace. It was the first time a police unit had captured a murder suspect primarily on the basis of evidence obtained from emails.

While in custody, Bobby—a member of the Rotary Club, whose sister was a church organist and whose family was well respected throughout the community—was interviewed about the events surrounding the alleged murder of Sharon. He told investigators that for several days he and Sharon had acted out their violent sexual fantasies in his trailer. He confessed that Sharon had willingly allowed him to tie her up with rope and probe her with objects lying around the house. And he revealed that she allowed him to tie a rope around her neck and tighten it as she climaxed during intercourse. But, according to his lawyer, Neil Beach, Bobby claimed to have accidentally strangled Sharon to death while in the throes of violent sexual play. Later, Bobby was quoted as saying, “I don’t know how much I pulled the rope… I never wanted to kill her, but she ended up dead.”

Sharon Lopatka’s body was sent to Dr. John Butts, North Carolina’s chief medical examiner. The autopsy report stated the cause of death as strangulation. Other tests showed inconclusive evidence of sexual torture or mutilation. Butts believed that Sharon died three days after she arrived in North Carolina.

Attorney Beach said that the autopsy reports supported his client’s claim that the death was accidental. “It is hard for me to believe the woman was tortured for three days if the medical examiner of North Carolina couldn’t find any indication of that… It’s much easier to understand or picture an accident occurring during sexual activity than it is to conjure up an image of this man as a cold-blooded, premeditated killer,” he said.

Search warrant affidavits released by police stated that Sharon intended to meet Bobby specifically to be tortured and killed. Captain Danny Barlow considered a death under such circumstances to be deliberate, not accidental. According to police, emails written under the pseudonym “Slowhand” detailing how he was going to kill Sharon provided further evidence that the death was premeditated. Bobby was charged with first-degree murder and held without bond in Caldwell County Jail.

On October 26, Superior Court Judge Beverly T. Beal had issued a gagging order to those directly involved in the case. Despite this, the media obtained enough information to sensationalize the Lopatka case. Most of the news stories focused on the dangers of internet-mediated meetings. Sharon’s death spawned debates and discussion groups worldwide. Many called for censorship of the internet to prevent such deaths and to protect children. Conversely, anti-censorship activists argued that the internet was a useful tool, allowing people to express themselves more freely and to voice their ideas in an open forum.

“The Mardi gras phenomenon” is a term used by psychologists to describe the ability to mask oneself and assume a variety of personalities, allowing one to speak and act freely with little or no consequence. This phenomenon is particularly prevalent on the internet, where users of online chat rooms and news groups can air their opinions and vent their feelings uninhibitedly and in many cases anonymously.

Sharon’s death and the publicity surrounding the case led to a growth in interest in understanding deviant sexual behaviors, especially sadism, masochism and the use of asphyxia during sexual intercourse.

The pioneering 19th-century German psychologist Richard von Krafft-Ebing first coined the terms “sadist” and “masochist” to describe behavior in which sexual arousal was achieved through, respectively, the infliction and reception of pain.

According to Reber’s Dictionary of Psychology, sadism is the association of sexual pleasure with the inflicting of physical and psychic pain on another, including humiliation, exploitation and debasement. Masochism refers to “any tendency to direct that which is destructive, painful or humiliating against oneself.”

It was Sigmund Freud who was the first to combine the two terms into “sadomasochism” in order to emphasize the reciprocity of the use of pain during sexual intercourse.

A controversial form of deviant sexual play practiced by some sadomasochists employs strangulation. Psychologists use the word “asphyxiophilia” in connection with sexual strangulation. By this they mean the practice of controlling or restricting oxygen to the brain by “interfering with the breath directly or through pressure on the carotid arteries” to achieve sexual gratification. In many cases, the hands are used or a tourniquet is tied around the throat during intercourse or masturbation to achieve the feeling of euphoria and elation that accompanies a lack of oxygen to the brain. Supposedly, this can increase the intensity of orgasm.

According to The Deviants’ Dictionary, sexual strangulation practiced with a partner is a form of “edge play,” in which one’s life is literally in the hands of another. The thrill is said to lie in the danger and vulnerability associated with the activity. However, there have been cases in which edge play has resulted in unintentional death.

The American Psychiatric Association claims that each year in the United States about 250 deaths occur involving strangulation or chokeholds during sexual activity. A large majority of these fatalities have occurred during auto-erotic asphyxiation, in which one restricts one’s own oxygen during masturbation, or “solo play.”

Jay Wiseman, of the Society for Human Sexuality, confirms this finding, saying that only a few of the cases where death occurs as a result of strangulation or a chokehold involve sexual play with a partner.

What makes Sharon Lopatka’s case exceptional is that she ventured into the relationship with Bobby Glass with one apparent intention—to die. In short, she was a suicidal masochist. But she was not the first in history to seek out a willing participant who would fulfill a request to be strangled to death for sexual gratification.

Knud R. Joergensen wrote in 1995 about the case of composer Franz Kotzwara, who in 1791 enlisted the help of a London prostitute, Susannah Hill, to assist him with his bizarre wish. After paying Hill two shillings, Kotzwara asked her to cut off his genitalia—a request the prostitute refused. Yet Hill did agree to her client’s sexual wish to strangle himself with a rope. It was the first documented case of death by sexual strangulation. Hill was eventually arrested for Kotzwara’s murder, but later acquitted when the authorities learned that she was more or less an innocent bystander. By contrast, Bobby Glass, 200 years later, faced first-degree murder charges for the sexual strangulation death of Sharon Lopatka, though the charge was eventually reduced to voluntary manslaughter.

The case against Glass included several lengthy delays and dragged on for three years. But on January 27, 2000, he pleaded guilty to voluntary manslaughter, as well as to six counts of second-degree sexual exploitation of a minor that resulted from the discovery of other pornographic material on his computer. He was sentenced to 36 to 53 months in prison for the manslaughter of Sharon Lopatka and 21 to 26 months for the possession of child pornography.

He was sent to Avery-Mitchell Correctional Institution in North Carolina. On February 20, 2002, two weeks before his release, Bobby Glass had a heart attack. He was pronounced dead at 1:30 a.m. at Spruce Pine Community Hospital in North Carolina.

Among Sharon’s final messages posted on the internet is a note addressed to people who had sent for the videos, failed to receive them and posted their own notes, calling the advertisements a fraud. “I’m just one person trying to fill all these orders. I don’t even have time to have a life,” she complained.

But perhaps the last, poignant word should go to Reverend Clarence Widener, who had officiated at Mr. Glass’s wedding many years earlier. He said, “He was a very nice fellow. I don’t know what could have happened to him.”


Anastasia Solovyova: In Search of a Dream

“You dragged her to the grave you dug… You stripped her corpse, mocking her. You saw the ring on her finger and you cut off her finger.”

—ANATOLY SOLOVYOV, THE VICTIM’S FATHER, TO HER KILLER

Originally, it was Anastasia Solovyova alone who dreamed of settling in America. The beautiful blonde daughter of two music instructors from Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan, excelled at piano and chorus but also studied English assiduously, babysat for an American diplomat in Bishkek and, when she was old enough, joined a bridal agency that would introduce her to American bachelors.

For all of her success in Kyrgyzstan, it was apparent that the 18-year-old ethnic Russian felt that she could build a better life by leaving the former Soviet republic and heading for the United States.

So, when the mail-order bride agency delivered a squat, balding man of almost 40, both she and her parents optimistically saw Gifford Indle King Jr. for his finer qualities: intelligent, attentive, well dressed, and he spoke glowingly of his upper-middle-class life and family back in America.

After a few meetings, the Solovyov family was sold.

In their small apartment in Bishkek, Anastasia’s parents had no way of knowing that their future son-in-law was actually bisexual, a financial and emotional failure, a man with a history of relying on his well-to-do parents for money and a proclivity for violent relationships. Nor could they have conceived that, just a few years earlier, he had been divorced by Yekaterina Kazakova, another mail-order bride whose court petition alleged that he had hit her in the head with his fist, thrown her against a wall and repeatedly pounded her head against it.

Unaware of King’s previous history with international marriage, Anastasia Solovyova soon left Bishkek for a comfortable townhouse just north of Seattle. “At first she seemed happy. She thought she loved him,” said Natasha Jankauskas, 22, who worked with Anastasia King at a downtown Seattle seafood restaurant soon after she arrived in America. “But they were never suited for each other… She was tall, beautiful and outgoing, and her husband was very monotone and pretty unattractive.”

After a few months, the couple’s problems exceeded mere incompatibility. “He started getting frustrated with her,” Natasha remembered. “And then it got to the point where Anastasia came into work crying one day because he had smacked her during a driving lesson.”

Yet Natasha, a music teacher, later described Anastasia as “amazingly hard-working” and a “universal favorite, constantly surrounded by friends. She persevered and even thrived in America.”

Anastasia studied with determination when she wasn’t working as a restaurant hostess and within two years gained admittance to the prestigious University of Washington, where she intended to study law.

At the same time, she appeared to be bracing for her own legal battle. She began keeping a diary and journals to document the increasingly dysfunctional relationship with her husband and eventually stored them in a safety deposit box at a local bank, away from his controlling eye.

According to court documents, the diary detailed “instances where [Anastasia King] was the victim of domestic violence, invasion of privacy and sexual assault.” It also included mentions of her ensuing disgust with her husband and evidence of her own extramarital affairs.

Indle King filed for divorce in 2000. In September of that year, Anastasia visited her parents in Kyrgyzstan and then flew back to Seattle, but never returned to work. Co-workers reported her missing on October 2. Then, on December 28, police found her body wrapped in a dog blanket and buried in a shallow grave at a scrapyard on the Tulalip Indian reservation north of Seattle. But, just when Anastasia’s already stunned family and friends were expecting murder charges to be filed in Snohomish County Superior Court against her husband, the investigation began to focus on Daniel Kristopher Larson, a 20-year-old registered sex offender who himself had rented a room briefly at the Kings’ home.

It was Larson who first brought investigators to Anastasia King’s body, after he claimed that Indle King had made a confession to him. However, further questioning led them to conclude that Larson himself had strangled her while her 270-pound husband pinned her down. Furthermore, investigators said, one of the reasons for the murder was that Anastasia had discovered that Larson and her husband were lovers.

At King’s trial, Anastasia’s father shook his finger at the killer and berated him in Russian for his cruelty. “You dragged her to the grave you dug… You stripped her corpse, mocking her. You saw the ring on her finger and you cut off her finger. What cruelty! You placed her body face down into the dirt—your beloved wife. An ordinary person cannot even imagine it.”

Because Larson was already in jail for soliciting sex with a 16-year-old Ukrainian girl, prosecutors had worried that he was an unreliable witness. Anastasia King’s funeral took place in Seattle on Saturday, February 3, 2003, at St. Nicolas’s Cathedral on Capitol Hill. Her grave is under a young evergreen tree in a local cemetery.

Whatever the specifics of why, how or even who committed the crime, people agree that the woman from Kyrgyzstan was ultimately a victim of the leap of faith her family took to help her find a new life in the United States.

Ironically, in the process of trying to come to terms with their grief in this faraway country, Anastasia’s father, 63, and mother, 55, had also fallen under America’s spell. At the end of two weeks which had included grueling interviews with the prosecution, at a tearful Orthodox memorial service for their daughter the grieving couple held what was to be their final press conference. “I hope,” Anatoly Solovyov told the assembled reporters wearily, “that authorities will find a possibility to allow us to remain here for the rest of our lives.”

On March 23, 2002, Larson was sentenced to 20 years in prison and King to 29 years.

The case of Anastasia Solovyova was not the first internet-related homicide to visit Seattle.

Susanna Blackwell met her husband through an internet marriage agency and in 1994 left her native Philippines to move to Washington State to marry him. During their short marriage, Timothy Blackwell regularly abused his wife physically, and within a few months she had left him and begun divorce proceedings. The couple had been separated for more than a year when Timothy Blackwell learned that Susanna was eight months pregnant with another man’s child. On the last day of the divorce proceedings, he shot and killed Susanna, her unborn child and two friends who were waiting outside the Seattle courtroom.
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Darlie Lynn Routier: The Dog That Didn’t Bark

“Here’s a mother who has supposedly been the victim of a violent crime. She has just lost two children, and yet she’s out literally dancing on their graves.”

—DALLAS COUNTY ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY GREG DAVIS, LEAD PROSECUTOR IN THE DARLIE ROUTIER CASE

Often the internet’s link with a murder is not that it was trawled to find the victim; instead, it is exploited to rally international support for the convicted killer. Yet, when I see a glossy, constantly updated website dedicated to promoting a death row inmate’s innocence, I smell a rat. What is the need for this global exposure, and what use are the pleas for support? More often than not, of course, donations are welcomed.

These sites are always maintained by the well-intentioned anti-death penalty lobby, whose campaigning would be better served if they concentrated their efforts on genuine cases. In short, such websites seem redundant to me.

The thousands of people who visit them are mostly not professionals in criminology-related professions, so what of value do they offer in assisting a convicted prisoner to gain his or her freedom? Surely the inmate’s own attorneys are capable of presenting a well-balanced legal argument before the appellate courts without all the hysteria these sites bring.

As to the internet debate rooms that attach themselves to these cyberspace ventures like clams to a rock, more often than not they simply post the ramblings of the ill-informed.

All such websites, and Darlie Routier’s pages are not exempt, publish selective material favoring the prisoners concerned. Rarely, if ever, do they expose the full facts, so they are patently misleading—a smoke-blowing exercise designed to deceive otherwise honest, often gullible people into supporting a cause that has already been lost.

A glance at the self-serving site dedicated to Darlie Routier’s case alludes to “evidence” that can prove this woman’s innocence of the stabbing to death of her two young sons. Documents and affidavits sworn by expert witnesses are listed. Case photographs of the badly injured Routier are also posted to gain public sympathy for the loss she has suffered: her freedom and the lives of her two children.

However, on closer scrutiny, the documents and “evidence” contained within documents are revealed to be all but worthless, and nowhere do we see the horrific truth.

We have studied this website, and we can state that nothing there will influence a court of appeal, and it is this—not the general public—that will be the final arbiter. We will also note, in the wider public interest, that, while the pro-Routier camp pours scorn on the police and trial court’s actions, the public prosecutor has remained admirably quiet.

But perhaps the website is of some value in that it brings to light many red herrings. For its content and raison d’etre confirm the manipulating, scheming persona of Darlie Routier. The woman is the mistress of homicidal trompe l’oeil, for, despite her apparent wide-eyed innocent charm, she is one of the most evil and cold-blooded child-killers of modern times.

This is the story of the dog that didn’t bark in the night, and it is a fascinating and educational one at that, for it confirms the widespread and perfectly reasonable suspicion that pure evil lurks within the web.

In approaching this case, we should step back and look at the crime in its entirety. However, given that this crime appears to lack a motive, this particular picture of homicide has many components missing, pieces that are invisible to the human eye. Locating them may solve part of the puzzle. Interpreting them and fitting them into the empty spaces to complete the picture is altogether another problem.

But this is no mere ink daub we will study so intently. The one we are viewing is akin to one of the masterly works of the Dutch graphic artist Escher, who is renowned for his dreamlike spatial illusions and impossible buildings. Like the murderer in this chapter, he was a wizard at deceiving the eye.

The analogy between Escher’s mesmerizing work and the case of Darlie Routier is apt, because here we have an enterprise that millions of American citizens agreed was complete, only to change their minds after a short time so that they now argue instead that it is not. The U.S. criminal justice system says that the guilty verdict is the genuine article, while a growing body of commentators have had second thoughts and now claim that the prosecution case fooled the eye, with the result that the verdict is a fake.

And it is for this reason that the life of a condemned woman hangs in the balance.

Most of my readers, particularly those with an interest in criminology and the criminal justice and penal systems, will know that many prison inmates, especially those convicted on overwhelming evidence and facing long prison terms, often appeal against their sentences using trivial issues in their attempts to overturn the sentence or have it reduced. They set their warped and deluded minds the task of convincing themselves, as well as one another, that they are innocent. In the end, so convincing are they that they are able to manipulate hordes of people into believing them.

Commentators on the serial killer Kenneth Bianchi, who continues even today to manipulate society, have termed his behavior “fly-specking exercises.” Bianchi meticulously dots the i’s and crosses the t’s, looking for the smallest errors in his frantic yet pathetic efforts to gain his freedom.

We find exactly the same “fly-specking” behavior in the case of the cyber spider Darlie Routier.

Her conviction was seemingly watertight. Indeed, so strong was the “overwhelming evidence” presented by the prosecution that the jury had no reservations whatsoever about finding Routier guilty of first-degree murder, and the judge sentenced her to die by lethal injection.

This was a crime that sent shockwaves around the United States, so much so that, following the hysteria generated by the case, three books were written by well-established authors, each unreservedly portraying Darlie Routier as “the embodiment of evil.” Now, however, dozens of experts, including several who participated as witnesses, a juror and the author of one of the books that condemned Routier, argue she is innocent. Why? Because, by using the internet, she has convinced them, and the websites that support her cause testify to this fact.

Millions of American citizens believe that Darlie Routier is innocent and should be freed at once, after which, no doubt, she will ask for apologies and financial compensation for having been detained for so long.

Twelve days after the deaths of her two young sons, the police arrested Darlie Routier for their murders. The investigating team had no eyewitnesses, no confession, no apparent motive, and the boys’ mother had herself apparently been slashed and stabbed during the attack. One knife wound missed her carotid artery by two millimeters; any closer and she would have bled to death.

What investigators did have by way of physical evidence was a trail of drying blood. It started at the murder scene on the ground floor of the opulent family home and led through a utility room to a mesh window screen in the garage, where it mysteriously stopped.

Other than a knife-slashed window screen—the damage most certainly not sufficient to allow an intruder easy ingress and egress—there was no other possible entry point in the Routiers’ house. There were no signs of forcible entry at any of the other doors and windows, and “all of which were secured and locked,” according to Routier’s husband, Darin.

This fact naturally gave rise to two theories: either the killer had a key to the house or garage, or the murderer was a member of the family. If the second was the case, only the mother or father, or the two together, could have murdered the two children.

The other significant physical evidence was a bloodstained bread knife on which were Darlie Routier’s fingerprints. There were three mysterious fingerprints that couldn’t be traced to any individual whatsoever, and Luminol tests for the presence of blood showed that someone had tried to clean the washbasin in the utility room/kitchenette and a settee in the adjoining recreation room where the children had been slain.

Finally, it was clear that the attacker had used a serrated bread knife from a drawer, but more about this later.

Almost immediately, investigators were puzzled and started asking themselves a number of questions.

What was the motive for the murders?

If it was a robbery, why were Darlie’s jewelry and purse left untouched?

Why would an intruder kill two children before trying to kill an adult who posed a more serious threat?

The two boys were stabbed in the chest. Why did Darlie Routier suffer a neck wound and cuts on her forearm and shoulder?

Why would the killer, who obviously had no scruples about murdering a pair of small boys, back off when Darlie awoke, leaving a witness alive to identify him?

Why would he drop the murder weapon on the floor, giving Darlie, his pursuer, a weapon with which to fight back?

Why would he have used the Routiers’ bread knife in the first place? (Most assailants come to their intended victim’s premises already armed.)

Why were there no visible signs of an intruder having entered the house?

And, as the questions mounted, it appeared that a bread knife owned by the Routiers might have been used to cut the garage’s screen. Had the intruder used this bread knife to slash his way in? If so, how did he get the knife in the first place?

However, there was one question police did not ask themselves at the time, and apparently not one of the tens of thousands of Routier′s supporters has asked this question since. The Routiers owned a white Pomeranian, a yappy little dog, easily excitable, that barked at any visitors to the premises. Deserving of a damn good kick, it even snapped and tore at a police officer′s trousers as he walked through the house. The dog was also heard barking by the emergency dispatcher who took Darlie’s 911 call, so we know that the animal was around when the frenzied murders took place.

In considering this fact, my mind turns to Arthur Conan Doyle’s novel The Adventure of Silver Blaze:

Inspector Gregory: “Is there any other point to which you would wish to draw my attention?”

Sherlock Holmes: “To the curious incident of the dog in the night-time.”

Inspector Gregory: “The dog did nothing in the nighttime.”

Sherlock Holmes: “That was the curious incident.”

And here we sniff our first red herring, for it is entirely reasonable to ask: why did the Routiers’ dog not bark in the night?

Following two contradictory statements by Darlie Routier, who claimed she was attacked by a black man who left via the garage, the police soon concluded that there had been no intruder that night because everything pointed to the crime scene having been staged.

Doctors who treated Mrs. Routier’s injuries formed the opinion that they were self-inflicted, and the investigators’ suspicions were reinforced by a peculiar scene that was caught on videotape a few days after the double murder.

On June 14, just nine days after the killings and on what would have been Devon Routier’s seventh birthday, Darlie drove to the cemetery with family and friends, wished her boy a happy birthday and then, in a joyous mood, sprayed Silly String all over the fresh mound of earth.

“Here’s a mother who has supposedly been the victim of a violent crime,” said Dallas County Assistant District Attorney Greg Davis, the lead prosecutor in the case. “She has just lost two children, and yet she’s out literally dancing on their graves.”

Within eight months of the crime, Darlie was convicted and sentenced to death by a jury in the Kerr County town of Kerrville, where the trial had been moved because of a welter of media hype and publicity. She seemed destined to be remembered as yet another stressed-out mother who had suddenly spiraled out of control. But over the years numerous news stories and an ongoing investigation by Darlie’s appellate attorneys have raised questions about what really happened that night.

Could it be that the police and the prosecutors manipulated the evidence to implicate someone they decided must have done it? A growing chorus of internet observers believes so. A juror from the trial now says that he and his fellow jurors made the wrong decision. The author of one of the true-crime books has also changed her mind, claiming that the jury heard perjured testimony and were never shown photos that would have proved Darlie was a victim of a savage attack. Adding fuel to the fire, her defenders claim to have found over 30,000 inconsistencies and errors in the court stenographer′s trial transcript.

Even the most experienced legal eagles have found themselves sucked in by the Routier saga. In March 2004, in oral arguments before the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals into whether procedural flaws were made during the original trial, the nine judges began peppering lawyers with questions on other aspects of the case.

Was there, they asked, an insurance policy on the children, which might have given Darlie a reason to kill them?

When Darlie talked to homicide detectives, did she make any kind of confession?

But the most baffling question about the murders has yet to be answered: why would someone show up in a nice new suburban neighborhood, target a house on a well-lit cul-de-sac, enter through a garage screen window a few feet from a dog’s basket, navigate his way through a darkened utility room, grab a bread knife from the kitchenette and then head into the living room to stab two boys and slash their mother′s throat? Robbery was almost immediately ruled out as a motive; nor, police determined, did anyone have a grudge against the family.

The Texas Department of Corrections website makes the facts of the case simple and concise:

Darlie Lynn Routier, inmate number 999220, currently sits on death row, Texas, convicted of the brutal stabbing deaths of her five-year-old son, Damon, and his six-year-old brother, Devon. On Thursday, June 6, 1996, they were murdered as they slept in a downstairs room with their mother at their family home in Rowlett.

Routier′s husband, Darin, and infant son, Drake, slept through the attack in upstairs bedrooms and they were not harmed. Darlie Routier, who claimed that she was also asleep at the time also suffered stab wounds during the attack but police say that they were self-inflicted. In her defense, she claimed to have awakened to see a black man fleeing the residence.

Prosecutors argued that she killed her sons because they interfered with the lifestyle she wanted to live. She was arrested after making two inconsistent statements to the police.

In the early hours of Thursday, June 6, 1996, a 911 emergency telephone call was put through to the Rowlett Police Department at 4401 Rowlett Road, Dallas County, Texas. The midnight dispatcher, Doris Trammell, took the call and identified the caller′s address as 5801 Eagle Drive.

The first police officer to arrive at the scene was David Waddell, who was soon joined by Sergeant Matthew Walling. Paramedics Jack Kolbye and Brian Koschak rushed through the front door to find Devon dead; he had been stabbed twice in the chest with such force that the knife had passed almost all the way through his body.

Damon was still clinging on to life; he had been stabbed half a dozen or more times in the back.

Darlie, who had also been sleeping downstairs with her sons, had knife wounds in her right forearm and her left shoulder and her throat had been cut. Doctors said she survived only because the knife stopped two millimeters short of her carotid artery. No one, either at the house or later in the hospital’s emergency trauma room, noticed any bruises on her wrists and arms.

Other medics soon turned up. Larry Byford, Eric Zimmer-man and Rick Coleman assisted where they could, and Damon was rushed to the Baylor Medical Center, where he was certified dead on arrival.

CID Commander Lieutenant Grant Jack had been on the force for 20 years. He was summoned from his bed and at 3 a.m. arrived at the murder scene, where he met Detective Jimmy Patterson, a veteran of the Crimes Against Persons Division. Patterson explained to his superior what little he knew about the incident: that the mother claimed a stranger had committed the atrocities and a bloodstained bread knife—the murder weapon—lay on the worktop in the utility room.

Lieutenant Jack put Patterson and his partner, Chris Frosch, in charge of the investigation, and Frosch sped off to the hospital to interview Darlie Routier at the first opportunity. He needed to get as much detailed information as he could about what had happened to cause such blood-letting and havoc.

In a written statement given to the police a few days later, Darlie, then 26, told the following story.

She was awakened by Damon’s cries of “Mommy! Mommy!” In the dark, she said, she didn’t even notice she had been stabbed several times and that her carotid artery had almost been severed. She did, however, see a man moving through the kitchen, and she followed him as he went toward the garage. When she got to the utility room, she saw a knife and picked it up. Only then, she said, did she return to find Devon and Damon and realize that she had been stabbed too. Darin, who was sleeping upstairs with their infant son Drake, came downstairs after hearing his wife’s screams and began administering cardiopulmonary resuscitation to Devon. By then the assailant had disappeared.

A few days later, Darlie Routier would significantly change this account.

Blonde, hazel-eyed Darlie was born in Altoona, Pennsylvania, on January 4, 1970. As a teenager she was attractive to boys, among them Darin Routier. Darin worked in a Western Sizzler restaurant alongside Darlie’s mother, who found him a bright, talkative, good-looking boy with ambitious plans for his future. He would be, she figured, a good catch for her oldest daughter. Playing matchmaker, she introduced the two kids, and by all reports it was love at first sight for both of them.

The dark-haired, tall boy with wavy hair flipped for the five-foot-three, heart-faced Lubbock, Texas, belle with the big eyes. And she, in turn, for him.

The couple dated in high school and continued to correspond after Darin, two years older than Darlie, went away to a technical college in Dallas. At Darin’s going-away party, however, Darlie showed a possessive and cunning nature that had lain hidden beneath her surface sweetness. She became annoyed that she wasn’t getting enough attention, so she left the party. Then she came back frantic, claiming that someone had tried to rape her.

“That ruse gave her just the attention that she craved,” said a friend, and this incident was a portent of things to come.

After graduating from high school, Darlie joined Darin in Dallas, where he had been hired as a technician at a computer chip company. Darlie landed a job with the same firm and they lived together while saving their money until, in August 1988, they married. The couple honeymooned first-class in Jamaica.

On returning to Texas, the newlyweds first moved into an apartment in Garland, close to where Darin worked learning the booming computer chip industry. Within a year, they relocated to a home in conservative Rowlett, a small town as neat as a pin. Here Darin started a home-based company named Testnec which tested circuit boards for computers.

Their first child was born in 1989—a healthy boy named Devon Rush—to be followed by another son in 1991—Damon Christian. With two children and a fast-growing business, the Routiers found it necessary to rent space in an office building. Their life seemed to be fulfilling the American Dream.

By 1992, their company had earned them a small fortune. The up-and-coming couple yearned to enjoy the prestige they felt was due to them and had a house built in Dalrock Heights Addition, an affluent suburb of Rowlett, some eight miles northeast of Dallas and adjacent to shimmering Lake Ray Hubbard. This was a model community of upper-class business people, crime-free streets and happy families who drove Subaru pickups in which they would convey their kids half a block to school.

The $130,000 two-story home of neo-Georgian design was a miniature mansion replete with classic porch, colonial shutters and a working fountain on the front lawn. Complementing their new life, the family boasted a Jaguar that sat gleaming on a circular driveway.

By all accounts, Darlie was happy. She was a very good mother, doting on her two children, living to celebrate the good times with them. At Christmas, their house was the most illuminated in the area. At Halloween, their windows displayed more goblins than any other. At Thanksgiving, it was said, the Routiers’ turkey was the largest and tastiest. On the children’s birthdays, Darlie threw gorgeous parties inviting classmates for an afternoon of frolics in their spacious entertainment center.

There was never any suggestion that Mrs. Routier did not love her children, and, for his part, Darin wore shirts with the sleeves rolled up to show his muscles, grew his hair long at the back, and sported a diamond watch and several gold-nugget-and-diamond rings. He doted on his kids, too.

But there was another side to Darlie, claim some who knew her—a side that loved to show off to hide low self-esteem. She reveled in materialism and creating an impression, often to the point of the bizarre.

She had 36-DDD breast implants that she further accentuated by wearing tight-fitting tops, she made regular visits to the tanning salon and wore diamond rings on every finger, she bought a toy Pomeranian with white hair matching her own. When she bought clothes, they were revealing outfits she wore for a night’s dancing just to grab the attention of onlookers, and her wardrobe bills skyrocketed.

Darlie’s detractors—there are always plenty of those with jealousies and axes to grind—say that her need to be the flashiest, gaudiest woman around eventually overcame everything else in her life—including her children. Neighbors complained that Damon and Devon, not far past the toddler stage, were left unsupervised. And when Darlie did attend to them, she often seemed frustrated at having to take the time to do so. Her patience with them, it was said, had waned.

The roots of domestic problems surfaced when guests at a Christmas party silently watched as Darlie and Darin argued violently when she danced too many times with another man, fueling rumors of extramarital dating by both partners. But the couple continued to play the surface charade, buying, buying and buying.

Then they splashed out on a 27-foot cabin cruiser and a space for it at the exclusive Lake Ray Hubbard Marina.

In 1995, research shows, Darin’s company brought in about half a million dollars in gross revenues, from which he paid himself a salary of $125,000. “At the time, we were in the top two percent of the tax bracket for our age,” he boasted. And they spent every cent they made, with almost $12,000 worth of new equipment being purchased for the flourishing business. However, the flip side of the coin is that the Routiers’ tax return for that year indicated a gross income of $264,000, and with a profit margin of 40 percent, the couple netted a little over $100,000.

But, if the financial problems were causing stress in their marriage, no one in the neighborhood saw it. Their neighbors thought they were a hoot, Rowlett’s version of the Clampetts from The Beverly Hillbillies. Then Darin got behind on the bills; he was at least a month late on the mortgage and owed $10,000 in back taxes to the IRS and $12,000 on credit cards.

With his finances in serious trouble, Darin decided to start a second business, which he called Champagne Wishes. He would take people around the lake on his boat at sunset while they sipped Champagne and, if they wished, availed themselves of the vessel’s sleeping quarters.

However, Darin’s difficulties didn’t seem to concern Darlie: her shopping didn’t slow down and she made plans to take a trip that summer to Cancún, Mexico, with some girlfriends.

Nevertheless, even if they were a little flashy, the Routiers were not disliked. One neighbor called them “the Ozzie and Harriet of the nineties.” Darlie was known as a cookie-baking housewife who always let the local kids hang out at her home, which they called “the Nintendo House” because of the elaborate game room that Darin had designed. She cooked for neighbors going through hard times and generously made a mortgage payment for a neighbor with cancer.

Friends who were aware of the Routiers’ problems were happy when Darlie became pregnant early in 1995. They counted on the new baby as the catalyst to renew the couple’s love for each other. But, after Drake was born in October that year, Darlie suffered postpartum depression. Mood swings brought on sudden tempers and dark rages. She piled on weight.

Not helping matters was the state of the couple’s finances, which, despite good business profits from Testnec, did not meet the exorbitant lifestyle they preferred to live and had grown used to.

Suddenly ends did not meet.

Darlie, unable to shed the weight she had acquired since her pregnancy, grew increasingly antagonistic. She took diet pills that didn’t work—a fact that Darin would remind her of when the couple battled, knowing it was her tender spot.

Darlie sporadically kept a diary. There were times she would attend to it daily, followed by long absences. On Friday, May 3, 1996, contemplating suicide, she wrote, “Devon, Damon and Drake, I hope you will forgive me for what I am about to do. My life has been such a hard fight for a long time, and I just can’t find the strength to keep fighting any more. I love you three more than anything else in this world and I want all three of you to be healthy and happy and I don’t want you to see a miserable person every time you look at me…”

On that day, she considered taking some sleeping pills to kill herself. But she never swallowed them and didn’t finish her diary entry either. After talking with her on the phone, Darin became worried and drove home to comfort her. She told him she was ashamed of what she had done and would never think about taking her life again. Darlie said her “blah feeling,” as she put it, was because she hadn’t had a period in more than a year. When it arrived a few days after her suicidal thoughts, she said, her spirits soared. In fact, people who saw her in the weeks that followed say she did not seem particularly despondent.

Her old friend Barbara Jovell did tell Darlie that she should get some counseling or perhaps enter a treatment center, as she herself had done when she once felt suicidal, but Jovell didn’t sense that Darlie was desperate or self-destructive.

In late May, Darlie and Darin took the boys to Scarborough Faire, a festival featuring characters dressed in medieval costumes. Darlie, flamboyant as always, wore a silky belly-dancing outfit. Nevertheless, any cost-cutting measures were still ignored, and spending sprees accelerated, so their financial troubles deepened. Testnec was hemorrhaging money and Darin was unable to pay himself the salary he required, nor pay Darlie anything at all for doing the books, which she had let go in her depression.

Creditors were now circling like vultures and demanded payment of late bills. Crunch time came on June 1, 1996, when the Routiers’ bank flatly denied them a much-needed loan of $5,000. The ship was sinking; the refusal of a financial lifeboat was the beginning of the end.

Later, at Darlie’s trial, Okie Williams of Bank One said the loan application by Darin was initially denied on June 1. He said the request was rejected a second time on June 3 “because of excessive obligations in relation to income, and related reasons.”

On Wednesday, June 5, the boys played in the hot tub, and that evening Damon and Devon huddled under blankets in front of a television Darin had just installed in the living room. Darlie and Darin would later say they stayed up talking past midnight, then kissed each other goodnight. Darin went upstairs to the master bedroom, where seven-month-old Drake was asleep in his crib, while Darlie curled up on the couch downstairs next to the two older boys. She had been sleeping on the couch that week, she said, because she wanted to watch over Damon and Devon, who had been spending the night downstairs since school had finished, and because she was a light sleeper and would sometimes be awakened by Drake turning over in his bed.

A few hours later, the 911 dispatcher in Rowlett received a frantic call. “Somebody came in here,” Darlie screamed down the phone. “They just stabbed me and my children!”

Having examined from a distance the larger, although incomplete, picture, we can now move in closer and start to study several of its components. First, the fingerprints, which, according to the pro-Darlie camp and her legal team, are an integral part of proving her innocence. For among the few flyspecking issues that her supporters have seized on is the fingerprint evidence—or, to be correct, the lack of fingerprint evidence—which they believe may prove her innocence.

Darlie had told the police dispatcher that a man wielding a knife had attacked her and her sons. She said the assailant had dropped the knife when he fled the house and that she picked it up. The dispatcher told her not to touch anything, to which Darlie responded with a calculated comment, totally out of sync with the rest of the call: “God… I bet if we could have gotten the prints maybe… maybe…”

This being the case, there would have been no fingerprints on the knife other than those of Darlie Routier, who obviously wanted it on record that she had picked up the murder weapon—thus any prints found on it she had “inadvertently” placed there, conveniently erasing the alleged attacker′s at the same time.

Crime-scene technicians had discovered a hazy fingerprint on a coffee table in the recreation room. The table was very close to where Damon had been stabbed. At the trial, prosecution experts argued that it was a child’s print, while the defense team claimed it was an adult’s.

By a process of elimination, it was determined that the print apparently had not been left by Darlie, Darin or any of the investigators or emergency personnel who attended the scene of the murders. The police did not fingerprint the dead children at the time, and since the children were soon buried their prints could not be compared with the print on the coffee table.

Devon and Damon’s bodies were exhumed several years ago, and a post-mortem photograph was taken of the print from Devon’s right thumb. Family members also found a set of Damon’s fingerprints which had been taken as part of a school safety program.

Fingerprint consultant and former police detective Robert C. Lohnes Sr. said the coffee table print ruled out Darin, Darlie and Devon, leaving only Damon’s prints to be matched. On this matter, lead prosecutor Greg Davis says Darlie Routier “has since been unusually quiet”!

At the time of the case, Greg Davis believed the coffee table fingerprint could have been Damon’s. Other blood trace evidence supported this theory because, unlike Devon, who was stabbed through the heart and never moved, Damon was very close to the table and he had moved after the attack.

Greg Davis has more recently stated, “If there was a fingerprint discrepancy, the prints could have been matched up at the time [they found the school card]. The family could have seen whether the fingerprint matched Damon’s. They [Darlie Routier and her internet supporters] haven’t talked about that at all.”

The organizers of the internet’s Free Darlie Routier Campaign have also relied heavily on a latent fingerprint expert called Richard L. Jantz, and in doing so they may have inadvertently shot themselves in the foot.

Rather than using more accepted fingerprinting investigation techniques, Jantz used methods more commonly employed by anthropologists in his efforts to size, age and determine the sex of the person who left the coffee table print. This technique, however, has brought some quite unwarranted criticism from the anti-Routier camp and the state’s attorney. Nevertheless, although Jantz was quite sure that it was a child’s print, he clearly stated that, although the print did not appear to match prints from Darlie, “it does not rule out the Appellant [Darlie Routier] nor does it rule out any partner, adult male or adult female.”

In summary, the print on the coffee table could have originated from any adult male or female, or even young Damon. If it had been proven not to have been left by the dead boy, then no doubt Darlie Routier would be advertising the fact at every opportunity, but prosecutor Davis says she is not, so I will leave readers to form their own conclusions on this point.

Two other unidentifiable fingerprints were found on the utility room door through which Darlie Routier says the murderer fled. It is now claimed by her internet supporters that further examination of these two fingerprints is critical to her claim that an unknown man attacked her.

The first and most important print lifted from this door was a latent bloody fingerprint—whoever left it had blood on their finger. Nevertheless, it revealed insufficient detail to identify its source, although forensic fingerprint analyst Glenn Langenburg has currently excluded its having come from Darlie Routier, while other experts argue that it cannot exclude her.

The second print taken from the door was a latent print located below the patent bloody fingerprint. On behalf of ABC News, latent print consultant Robert Lohnes analyzed this print in June 2003 and pro-Routier supporters conclude that it matched Darin Routier’s second finger joint on the middle finger of the left hand. At least this is what Darlie’s legal team claimed in their “Renewed Motion for Testing of Physical and Biological Evidence and Request for an Evidentiary Hearing,” which was granted by the Honorable Robert Francis.

The documents are posted on the website dedicated to Routier’s release, and on closer scrutiny we suggest that the court papers have been released primarily to blow smoke in a critic’s eyes.

We can support this cutting observation because fingerprint consultant Robert Lohnes said nothing of the kind. In his affidavit, sworn on January 29, 2003, Lohnes mentions nothing about Darin Routier’s fingerprints. Quite the contrary, in fact, he simply says that, after comparing a photograph of the bloodied print with the fingerprint card of Darlie Routier, so he was able to confirm that the prints did not come from her.

Glenn Langenburg also analyzed the second latent print from the door. From the prints available to him for comparison—which included the fingerprints, finger joints and upper palm areas for Darlie and Darin Routier—Langenburg was unable to match the latent fingerprint to either person. Significantly, he was unable to say that Darlie Routier had not left this print.

However, if Darin had left this second print, the significance is worthless, for he lived in the house and his fingerprints would be everywhere.

Quite obviously, the value of the unidentifiable latent fingerprints found at the crime scene will be of little value in Darlie Routier′s struggle to have her sentence quashed. If, however, any of the three prints had been clear enough, possibly they could have been added to a fingerprint database which would automatically have scanned its registers for a match—perhaps flagging up a known offender with a previous criminal record. If this had been successful, Routier might have solid grounds for an appeal because it would have been proved that an intruder had been in the home that fateful night.

Shedding of blood is the dramatic accompaniment to murder committed by violent means. Blood accounts for about 9 percent of a healthy person’s body weight and, as many murderers have discovered to their cost, when it is spilled, a little goes a long way.

While crime-scene technicians methodically worked their way through the Routiers’ home, in the utility room/kitchenette Sergeant Nabors noted that, although the sink was spotless and white, the top and edges of the surfaces around and above it were blood-smudged. It was as if someone had taken the effort to clean the sink of blood and wipe the worktops.

Initially, Darlie denied ever being at the sink, although when later pressed she changed her story. Of more significance, however, is the fact that she made no mention of her washing her hands of the intruder stopping to wash his hands in the sink as he fled the premises—an action that in any event would have been unlikely.

With this in mind, Nabors conducted a Luminol test to detect the presence of human blood that cannot be seen with the naked eye. If the white crystalline compound in the Luminol detected the copper component found in human blood, the area sprayed would become luminescent. The sergeant sprayed the sink and the surrounding counter. When the lights were switched off, the entire sink basin and the surrounding surface glowed a brilliant bluish light in the dark. He concluded that the bloodstains discovered in the sink would be consistent with someone washing blood off his or her hands. And there was also an indication that some of the blood around the sink had been wiped up with a towel. Hardly the actions of a crazed killer intent on escaping as fast as he could!

Although Darlie Routier vehemently denied visiting the sink to wash her wounds, the only scenario one can infer from the blood traces in the sink and on the worktop was that she had cut her own throat at the sink and then tried to wipe up the blood afterward. But there is significantly more to this than meets the eye.

If she did wash her hands in the sink, when did she do it, and why clean the sink and wipe the worktop? These actions could have only taken place after murdering her sons, stabbing herself and cutting her own throat, and before picking up the phone to dial 911, because she stayed on the phone until assistance arrived, and by then the sink had already been cleaned.

This being the only conclusion that can be reached, it would also be reasonable to ask, what else did she do during the period between the murders and calling for help?

Perhaps of even more significance was the fact that only Darlie’s bloodied footprints were visible on the floor. Surely, if the killer had stopped to wash his hands, with blood dripping on to the floor, his own shoeprints would have been found, but they were not.

Fragments of a shattered wine glass lay on and around Darlie’s bloody footprints. A vacuum cleaner lay on its side. Blood found underneath these items indicated to crime-scene consultant James Cron that they were dropped after—not before or during—the violence and the spilling of blood.

Sergeant Nabors repeated the Luminol process on the leatherette couch close to where the boys had been stabbed. Here he found a small child’s handprint glowing iridescent blue on the edge of the couch. Like the blood in the kitchen sink, someone had wiped the blood away. The police had not wiped the couch clean, so who had? Surely not the alleged intruder?

The only two people who could have wiped it were Darlie and her husband, and they denied doing so.

In summary, the sink had been cleaned, the blood-smeared worktop wiped over, a bloodstain on the couch had been wiped too, and all before the police arrived at the premises. Despite all this, the Routiers denied cleaning anything.

To evaluate the veracity of Darlie’s statements to the police, a forensics expert tried to replicate the intruder′s series of moves that fateful night, based on Darlie’s recollection.

He began by dropping a bloody knife from waist height on to the floor of the utility room while making his way toward the garage door. The blood that spattered across the floor during the test produced a pattern entirely different from the little pools found in the utility room on the night of the murders. The test conducted by the forensics expert showed a random pattern of drops and directional splashes, while the crime photos showed “carefully dropped drips of blood.”

When another blood expert found tiny drops of the boys’ blood on the back of the nightshirt that Darlie had worn that evening, he remarked that a likely way the blood could have got there was when it dripped off the bread knife and onto Darlie’s back, and this would be consistent with her raising her arm above her while stabbing the boys.

After the murders, Darlie gave two conflicting accounts of exactly what the intruder had done to her. One officer said that she told him that she had struggled with her assailant on the couch, while another officer said she told him the struggle was at the work surface of the utility room.

To retrace the alleged attacker′s movements as observed by Darlie Routier, James Cron then followed the trail of blood. It indeed led from the room where the children had been slain, through to a utility room, past the sink, then onto the concrete floor of the garage, where it trailed off below a window screen. Cron then went out into the yard and began looking for blood traces that might have been left behind by the alleged slayer in flight after he exited the garage window. Surely his savagery would have produced vast amounts of blood and his clothing would have been dripping with it—yet there was no blood on the window, its frame or sill, or on the outer wall.

There was no blood in the dewy, wet mulch below the window… or on the yard’s manicured lawn… or along or on top of the six-foot-high fence that surrounded the garden, or on the gate, or in the nearby alley.

The blood was contained within the house, and nowhere else!

Darlie Routier had told the police that she had seen the killer leave the premises by passing through the utility room and into the garage before disappearing. The blood trail led to the window screen and not to the garage doors, which, as Darin claimed in court, were in any case locked.

The screen had been slashed with a knife, but on examination it showed no signs of having been forcibly pushed in or out to facilitate an adult’s ingress or egress. Even more telling was the fact that the screen’s frame was easily removable. Perhaps, the investigators figured, the woman, in her panicked condition, may have been wrong—perhaps the intruder had found another means of entry and exit. So they examined every entry point to the entire home for other indications of breaking and entering.

They looked for other blood trails and found nothing. Why, the police asked themselves, didn’t the intruder just pull off the screen, as burglars normally do?

Then Charles Linch, Dallas County’s premier trace-evidence analyst, dropped a bombshell: he found a bread knife in the kitchen drawer. On the serrated blade he discovered a nearly invisible fiber, 60 microns long, made of fiberglass coated with rubber. Using a microscope, Linch determined that the fiber found on the bread knife matched in every respect the composition of the fiberglass in the mesh screen cut by the so-called intruder. If this was the knife used to cut the screen, and there is no doubt that it was, common sense tells us that the screen was cut from inside the house, not by the intruder from the outside.

This is not Star Trek. The intruder was not beamed into the house, where he searched for a bread knife, then beamed back outside to cut the screen, to climb through, replace the bread knife, kill the boys, attack the mother and flee. No! Only someone already inside the house, someone who knew where a suitable knife was—one of the parents—could have cut the screen and placed the knife back in the drawer.

The police considered every single other option, but still the window screen seemed an unlikely escape route even though Darlie was insistent that this was the way the killer left the house.

If an intruder had entered and escaped through this slash in the screen, he would have left some trace of his doing so—perhaps a human hair, a fiber from his clothing or a blood trace—but nothing was found. The dust on the sill was undisturbed, there were no handprints, bloody or otherwise, around the window—odd, since the killer, in forcing his way through the window, would have had to hang on to the walls for balance, and yet not a boot- or shoeprint was found in the soft mulch outside!

All of this led the police to conclude that the trail of blood leading to the window screen was a red herring. Someone was trying to deceive them into believing that the killer was an intruder when no intruder had ever existed. But who would try to deceive them? If the intruder did not exist, and there is not a shred of evidence—apart from Darlie Routier’s statement—that there was one, Darlie Routier was lying. By “arranging” the crime scene and scattering red herrings around, she was trying to divert suspicion away from herself.

In the entertainment room where, according to Darlie, she struggled with her attacker, James Cron found little evidence of a melee having taken place. The lampshade was askew and an expensive flower arrangement lay beside the coffee table. There was nothing more out of place. He found, in fact, the fragile stems of the flowers unbroken, as if the arrangement hadn’t fallen but been placed there. Once again, someone was trying to deceive the eye. But there was even more.

Atop the utility room work surface, close to the sink, sat Darlie’s purse, which appeared in order and undisturbed. Several pieces of jewelry—rings, a bracelet and a watch—were laid out neatly and untouched. If the alleged intruder′s motive had been robbery, he would have seen the jewelry when he washed his hands and stolen it. Therefore, it was obvious that, before cutting her own throat and injuring herself, Darlie had removed her jewelry to protect it from blood contamination or possible damage. It was a repeat of the staged scene in the murder room: items had been carefully placed to avoid damaging them, and even a bloodstain on the couch had been wiped away.

Darlie Routier had inflicted her own injuries at the sink!

Everything the crime-scene experts saw at the crime scene disturbed them. The lack of a blood trail away from the home, coupled with virtually no signs of a struggle, bothered them most. The entire picture before them had been carefully set. Everything had been designed, like one of Escher’s drawings, to fool the eye into seeing something that did not exist.

Of great significance is that Darlie must have injured herself, arranged the crime scene and set the red herrings after the murders had been committed and before the 911 call was made. The actions of a very cold and calculated killer indeed!

After his thorough and all-day examination of the crime scene, James Cron summarized his findings for Lieutenant Jack and Sergeant Walling: “We all know the crime scene tells the story. Problem is, that story’s not the same one the mother’s telling. Somebody inside this house did this thing. Gentlemen, there was no intruder.”

Cron was positive that the crime scene had been staged. An article in the FBI′s Law Enforcement Bulletin refers to “staging”:

Offenders who stage crime scenes usually make mistakes because they arrange the scene to resemble what they believe it should look like. In so doing, offenders experience a great deal of stress and do not have the time to fit all the pieces together logically. As a result, inconsistencies in forensic findings and in the overall “big picture” of the crime scene will begin to appear. These inconsistencies can serve as the “red flags” of staging, which serve to prevent investigations from becoming misguided.

But nobody asked, “Why hadn’t the Routiers’ dog barked in the night?”

As Sherlock Holmes would be quick to deduce, the dog knew the killer(s), and that could have only been Darlie Routier, Darin Routier or both.

With the physical evidential facts already established, all of which prove beyond any doubt that no intruder had entered the Routiers’ home on the night of the murders and that the crime scene had been “carefully staged” by someone living in the house, we can now focus more closely on the crimes in an effort to prove that only Darlie Routier, acting alone, could have committed the murders.

Darlie Routier most certainly had the opportunity for committing the crime, and she had the opportunity to prepare for the crime, clean the place up and scatter red herrings around to divert suspicion away from herself.

The scientific forensic testimony had proven, beyond any doubt, that an intruder did not leave the blood trail. The fiber found on the bread knife taken from the drawer and replaced in the drawer matched in every respect fibers from the mesh window screen, and this evidence convinced the jury that a guilty verdict was safe.

The police were convinced that the killer had tampered with and fabricated evidence at the crime scene in an effort to lead them in the wrong direction—to point an accusatory finger elsewhere. This being so, it was an act by the killer indicative of guilty consciousness or intent. And Darlie Routier certainly gave a number of unsatisfactory explanations as to the events that night.

At first, she told one officer she had struggled with her assailant on the couch. She added that her only view of the man came as he was walking away from the couch. She said she just couldn’t remember any distinct details about the attack or the killer, except that he was wearing dark clothes and a baseball cap.

To support this claim, she also told a friend who visited her in the hospital that she remembered lying on the couch as the man was running the knife over her face. When she returned home from the hospital, an annoyed Darlie told a shocked friend that the place was a mess and would take some cleaning up.

However, when questioned about the blood in the sink and over the work surfaces, she told another officer a different story: that the struggle took place at the sink.

The investigators’ suspicions grew even more when the doctors and nurses who treated Darlie told them that her wounds could have been self-inflicted. Then, a few days after leaving the hospital, she showed the police bruises that covered her arms from wrist to elbow. These, she said, had been caused by her attacker. Yet the doctors who examined her said the bruises were too fresh to have been inflicted on the night of the murders. More likely, they said, Darlie hit her arms with a blunt instrument after she left the hospital—or got someone else to do it—to convince the police that she had been attacked.

The police asked themselves, why did the alleged intruder only slice Darlie’s throat and stab her in the shoulder and forearm, instead of plunging his knife deep into her body the way he plunged it into the bodies of her boys? Why did he not make sure that Darlie was dead so that she would be unable to identify him or raise the alarm?

If there had been an intruder, what was his motive? It most certainly was not robbery. But Darlie Routier′s motive for committing the crime has not been found.

Or has it?

One of the first police officers at the scene was perplexed because Darlie didn’t tend to her sons, even when he asked her to. Instead, she held a towel to her own neck. A slash of the bread knife had missed her carotid artery by two millimeters, or was it a carefully judged act of self-mutilation? As no intruder had attacked her, only Darlie could have injured herself. We can rule out her husband because his wife’s injuries spilled a large amount of blood and there was not a drop of blood on him when the police arrived, unless he had changed his clothes.

Nurses at the hospital to which Darlie was taken said that when she was told that her sons were dead she exhibited a “flat affect” and did not dissolve into hysteria, as mothers often do on learning they have lost a child.

When Darlie took the stand at her trial, she changed her story, explaining that she went to the sink to wet towels and place them on her children’s wounds. Paramedics found no towels near the children when they arrived, but Darlie was holding a towel to her own neck.

She also claimed that the scene with the Silly String at Devon’s grave was her heartfelt way of wishing a happy birthday to her son, who, she hoped, was watching from heaven. But Darlie was not a persuasive witness. She cried at unlikely times and became far too defensive under the cross-examination of Toby Shook, the veteran Dallas County prosecutor, who kept slamming her for what he called her “selective amnesia.”

The facts proved that there had been no murderous intruder in the Routiers’ home, so Darlie had been lying. She had even laid false clues and tampered with evidence. This, combined with giving unsatisfactory explanations and changing her account of what took place, tied in with her detached post-crime behavior, and earned her a place on death row.

But there was just one problem.

On the night of the murders, one of Darin’s socks was found down a back alley some 75 yards away from the house. It contained two small spots of blood from Damon and Devon, but none of Darlie’s blood.

What was it doing there?

The police initially speculated that Darlie had carried the sock three houses away to make it look as if the intruder had dropped it during his escape. But they couldn’t find any of Darlie’s blood—or anyone else’s blood—outside the house. There was no blood on the back patio, on the back fence or in the back alley. If Darlie had planted the sock, how did she avoid leaving a blood trail of her own, for once her throat was cut, she lost significant amounts of blood.

The detectives and the prosecutors came up with an interesting theory: Darlie stabbed her boys to death, took the sock down the alley—perhaps to give the impression that the intruder had used it to keep his prints off the knife—then cut herself at the kitchen sink.

Either before she stabbed the boys or before she stabbed herself, she cut the mesh screen with the bread knife, laid the red herrings, arranged the crime scene and, once all that was done, called 911, then screamed out for Darin.

However, Darlie’s well-meaning internet supporters argue, if she had wanted the police to find the sock, wouldn’t she have thrown it closer to the house, perhaps at the end of the driveway, instead of leaving it so far away, next to a garbage can, where the police might have overlooked it? And wouldn’t she have doused that sock in blood so that the police would know what they had found? And even then, would Darlie have had time to do everything before the police arrived?

In fact, had there been an intruder who used the sock to avoid leaving his fingerprints, he would have left his prints at the point of entry—but none was there. The stabbings were brutal and blood would have sprayed all over the sock, and on exiting the premises the blood-soaked sock would have smeared the window and its frame, as well as any door frame it might have touched. But there were only a few spots of blood on the sock. To suggest that an intruder slipped it on his hand before he killed the boys is ludicrous.

There was no intruder, so the only people who could have dropped the sock were Darlie and Darin. But there is no evidence to implicate Darin in the murders or any attempt to cover them up, so we must focus on Darlie. We have seen that she certainly spent some time arranging things and cleaning up before the police turned up, so we suggest that this is another of Darlie’s red herrings in her efforts to divert suspicion from herself. However, when the red herrings fail, the opposite occurs and she puts her head firmly in the noose.

The pro-Routier camp have been thorough, in one respect, by highlighting the police records, indicating that Darlie was on the phone with the 911 dispatcher for five minutes and 44 seconds. Just as that call was ending, a police officer came into the house, and he was there for at least a minute before the paramedics arrived. They found Damon still breathing; he died shortly thereafter. Why is that important? Darlie’s supporters ask.

According to a doctor who studied the severity and location of Damon’s stab wounds, the boy could not have lived longer than nine minutes once he was first stabbed and probably no more than six minutes.

“Let’s assume he lived nine minutes,” claim Darlie Routier and her friends. “If you subtract from that nine minutes her five-minute-and-44-second phone call to 911, then subtract the additional minute and ten seconds that she was in the presence of a police officer, Darlie had only two minutes and six seconds to stab her sons, head for the garage, step through the slit in the window screen, jump a back fence or go through a back gate, run barefoot for 75 yards down an alley, drop a bloody sock, run 75 yards back, stab herself, clean up the blood around the sink, and stage whatever crime scene there was left to be staged.”

The prosecutors certainly did not have a good answer to the timeline conundrum, except to say that the doctor was simply guessing about the nine minutes it took Damon to die and that even then Darlie could have had enough time to commit the murders and stage the crime scene.

Leaping on the prosecutor’s uncertainty, the pro-Routier camp asks, “But if she was smart enough to plant fake evidence, wouldn’t she have been ready with a more believable story about what the intruder looked like and how the killings occurred?”

But it is the sock we are interested in, and not the what-ifs.

The sock did belong to Damon. Forensic experts did find spots of both of the dead boys’ blood on it, and that blood could have only got there after the murders had been committed, therefore, before the mother injured herself.

With the alleged intruder now ruled out, the sock could have only been placed where it was found by one of the parents, so the pro-Routier followers have missed the point entirely.

In assuming that the suggested timeline proves her innocence, Darlie Routier shoots herself in both feet, because it was proved that only someone who lived in the house could have used the bread knife to slash the mesh screen, and that screen was not entered or exited by anyone. No one had stepped into the dew-wet mulch outside the window, rushed across the lawn, jumped a back fence or went through the back gate. So we can safely remove from the equation the time it would have taken to accomplish this alleged sequence of actions.

In fact, Darlie Routier simply opened her front door, dashed to where she dropped the sock and returned to the house, where she cut her throat, cleaned up the blood in the kitchen and called 911.

What really makes no sense was why their mother would choose to kill Damon and Devon at all. If, as the police and the prosecutors believed, Darlie had become increasingly upset about money, why didn’t she murder Darin and cash in his $800,000 life insurance policy? The policies on Damon and Devon totaled only $10,000, and their funerals alone cost more than $14,000. If she was overwhelmed by the stresses of motherhood—another theory—then why didn’t she also kill Drake, the baby, who required most of her attention?

Of course, Drake was in bed next to his father.

At her trial, Darlie’s lawyer, Doug Mulder, one of Dallas’s most prominent and charismatic criminal defense attorneys, kept asking the jurors if they really believed that a doting mother could, in the course of a single summer night, pop popcorn for her boys, watch a movie with them and then suddenly snap and turn into a knife-wielding nut?

A psychiatrist who interviewed Darlie for 14 hours after her arrest said that she was telling the truth about the attacks; that her loss of memory about certain details that night was the result of traumatic amnesia, which can occur after emotionally overwhelming events.

Vincent DiMaio, the chief medical examiner in San Antonio and the editor-in-chief of the prestigious Journal of Forensic Medicine Pathology, testified that Darlie’s injuries were not at all consistent with the self-inflicted wounds he had seen in the past. He said that the cut across her throat, in particular, was hardly “superficial,” as the prosecutors alleged.

Mulder produced notes taken by the nurses at the hospital that said that Darlie was “tearful,” “frightened,” “crying,” “visibly upset” and “very emotional” on the night she was brought in.

However, countering this, one of the prosecution’s expert witnesses aggressively promoted the theory that Darlie was guilty, and in the end the evidence, however circumstantial, was too much for the jurors—even if they could not figure out how the sock found its way into the alley.

During their deliberations, the jury watched the Silly String video a reported seven times.

Perhaps Mulder made a mistake in not introducing another videotape, secretly recorded by the police, that showed Darlie weeping over her sons’ graves.

Perhaps the outcome would have been different had he found more expert witnesses to counter the prosecution’s experts. But, even then, it’s hard to see how a jury would have gotten over the finely honed image of Darlie as a mentally unbalanced, gum-chewing bleach blonde who seemed to be unmoved by, if not outright exhilarated over, the deaths of her children.

After the trial, it was proved that Darin Routier was looking for someone to burglarize the house before the murders. “Never,” Darin argued. But, according to an affidavit given by Darlie’s stepfather, Bob Kee, Darin said in the spring of 1996 that he had a plan in which he and his family would be gone from the house and that a “burglar,” hired by him, would pull up with a U-Haul truck, remove household items and keep them hidden until the insurance company paid the claim. All that was needed, Darin said, was someone to do the job.

Initially, Darin poured scorn on the suggestion that he wanted someone to burgle his house to cash in on the insurance. But finally he had to admit that he had worked out another scam a couple of years before the murders in which he had had his car stolen so that he could collect the insurance money. Darin says that he did not arrange for his Jaguar to be stolen, but he admitted saying to the person who he believed eventually stole the car, “It wouldn’t bother me if it was gone.” Darin would not deny that the person who broke into his house and murdered his sons could have been someone who had heard him discuss his would-be insurance scam. But he said he had no idea who that person might be—and, if such a crime did happen, it was without his assistance.

“Why would I do that if I had my kids and my wife downstairs?” he said. “That’s the craziest story I have ever heard.”

When he was told that the complete truth might help get his wife a new trial, he insisted that he wanted to do what he could for Darlie. “But I don’t want to end up with some kind of bullshit charges brought against me either,” he volunteered. “I don’t want to help her at the expense of my life.”

But what if Darlie really did it and Darin was her accomplice in covering it up—a scenario that prosecutors say they have also considered?

What if Darin came downstairs, saw what his wife had done to the boys and then planted false clues to try to keep her from being arrested? Because he had no blood on him, he could have taken the sock down the alley without leaving a trail. He could have been the one who carefully cut Darlie’s throat and inflicted her other wounds, after convincing her that the cops would be more likely to believe her story if she had also been stabbed.

Or maybe Darlie, who was in such a delicate emotional state only a month before, decided after one of her fights with Darin to murder the boys and then kill herself—only she couldn’t quite bring herself to commit suicide.

What if Darin came downstairs, begged her to put the knife down and then planted false clues and staged a crime scene before having her call 911? Darin said all the speculation is outlandish, and that he still believes an unknown assailant came into his house. “I love my wife and I loved my boys,” he has said. “My God, I loved them. How did this ever happen?”

Proof of motive is not necessary in the proof of a crime, and the absence of any discoverable motive is of little consequence in deciding whether or not the prisoner committed the crime. Darlie Routier killed her children for whatever motive—murder for insurance was never one of them—and her guilt is overwhelming.

At the beginning, I asked the reader to stand back to look at a somewhat incomplete painting of homicide which had been designed to fool the eye. We then moved closer to examine how the exercise had been completed and learned much. Various areas of the canvas were missing or deliberately obscured by the perpetrator—all attempts to show us a picture that didn’t really exist. A murderous trompe l’oeil indeed!

Yes, the couple had spats from time to time, but most couples have those and they make for healthy, open relationships. This couple were devoted to each other, despite the curtain-twitchers who claim otherwise. Of course, they might have discussed paying someone to rob their home for insurance purposes, but killing Darin, who was asleep close to Drake, for insurance reasons was the last thing on Darlie’s mind.

The suicide note in Darlie’s diary proves that she was falling apart at the seams a month before the murders. Her words are sad, and perhaps those of a sincere woman. But was this yet another warped way of getting attention, for she wrote the letter then telephoned her husband begging him to come home? When he did, she showed him the letter and he comforted her, giving her the reassurance she craved.

Darlie Routier was, and still is, a very materialistic woman with an underlying sense of low esteem. Her ego was fragile. To compensate for this, she indulged in expensive trinkets, clothes and other excesses, which others would describe as “showy.” She dyed her hair to match the color of her dog. She was an attention seeker who years beforehand had claimed she had been raped to gain the sympathy and attention of her peers. She had her breasts enlarged to a size that would outdo most raunchy centerfolds. All of these were props to support her own self-admitted inadequacies.

She knew there was no way out of the financial abyss into which they had plunged. They always say that a flame burns brightest before it goes out, and Darlie certainly burned bright, with high spirits, during the week before she killed her children. This was Darlie Routier to a T: showy on the outside, now a psychological wreck inside; a woman who needed sympathy and attention.

It was an inescapable fact that the Routiers were on the verge of bankruptcy. The IRS demanded hefty tax arrears. They owed their bank and credit card companies a small fortune. And the bank had refused them the lifeboat of a $5,000 loan. They would lose the house. All that they had worked so hard together for would soon be lost, probably forever.

Darlie Routier once prided herself on her beautiful figure, but now she had put on weight she could not lose. She admitted to suffering from postpartum depression and her periods had stopped completely, and as every woman knows, the symptoms can become mentally debilitating. Society has witnessed time and again a parent killing their children in moments of deep despair.

Darin Routier is an extremely intelligent and mentally well-balanced man. His work in the electronic industry demands that he is methodical and thorough. Indeed, until he fell into financial difficulties, he was highly successful and motivated.

From their history together, we know that Darin was emotionally far better equipped to handle the family financial crisis than his materialistic and showy wife. Sadly, this case has the indelible stamp of “familicide” writ large throughout.

Having filled in all of the missing pieces, we now suggest that Darlie Routier′s mind had become a pressure-filling cylinder and the relief valve finally closed shut. In effect, her mind blew.

We do not believe that she had ever seriously considered suicide. She loved herself far too much to do that. The note and phone call to her husband were simply an attention-seeking exercise.

If there was a motive, as cold, dispassionate and brutal as this may seem, I believe that Darlie Routier killed her two sons and then mutilated herself to gain sympathy and attention as her materialistic world collapsed in ruins.

The murders were premeditated, and the intruder scenario was hastily invented with little thought to careful planning, as has been proven. In all that followed the stabbings, we can picture a cold-blooded, calculating woman meticulously rearranging her home, taking care not to damage the items she held so dear to her heart: she could easily destroy her sons’ lives, but not a spot of blood should contaminate the couch on which she slept or the flashy jewelry she wore.

Darlie Routier’s latest hearing centered not on fingerprint evidence but on the thousands of errors made by the original trial stenographer. She and her internet supporters claimed that she could not receive a fair consideration of her appeal because the transcript was tainted. However, months of reconstructive work brought the transcript up to scratch, and on this basis the judge ruled against the appellant.

The rest is history, but the full picture certainly explains why the dog didn’t bark in the night.

Inmate #999220, Darlie Routier, is at Texas Department of Corrections, Mountain View Unit DR, 2305 Ransom Road, Gatesville, TX 76528, USA.
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Susan Gray and The Featherman

“I had never had a climax in my life until I met ‘The Featherman’ on the internet. We met, he raped me and returned to almost kill me.”

—SUSAN GRAY, TO THE AUTHORS

As most people will agree, the feeling of emptiness when one has been rejected by a loved one may be misinterpreted as a need to go shopping or as a need to eat. The need for companionship and love and the sense of loss that is now associated with this need may be too painful to scrutinize consciously. The person engages in unrelated behavior that results in a temporary reduction of the feelings associated with loneliness and tends to bring pleasure. Feeling good about one thing masks the pain being felt elsewhere.

We will soon learn a lot about Susan Gray (not her real name) and how, spurned by three husbands, she found herself in an internet chat room unknowingly talking to a sexual predator. We will learn even more about the man himself—and it is a story that provides a salutary lesson to women looking for relationships in the chat rooms of the world.

Susan Gray and at least two other British women fell for a smooth-talking American on the internet. During a five-week visit he raped all of them—there were probably others too—and Susan almost lost her life. Later in this book we encounter two men, a London doctor and a U.S. mechanic, who did.

Susan was born 47 years ago in Maidstone, Kent. Today a tall, natural blonde with blue eyes, she could readily be described as “classy” and “hot stuff,” and the combination of her slim figure with sexy clothes, short skirts and high-heeled black boots has always drawn admiring glances from men and women alike.

Intelligent, house-proud and generous to a fault, Susan has a teenage son, although, sadly, by the age of 40 she had three failed marriages behind her.

“I guess I was a bit possessive,” she explained. “Maybe I was insecure knowing that my husbands and other lovers knew that I was not getting sexual satisfaction from the relationships. I don’t understand it at all, but I admit I was a bit of a control freak and very jealous.” She added, “Yes, I have always been generous to my men. Perhaps I was trying to buy their love. I seem to have attracted the wrong men.”

Susan was always on the move—and she still is. Unable to put down roots as each relationship fell apart, she would diligently pack all her possessions into cardboard boxes and find somewhere else to live. Gradually, almost step by step, she gravitated to Fareham in Hampshire, where she shared rooms with two other girls above a café in West Street.

Within 18 months, Susan moved again, then again, and then, in 2001, she rented a two-bedroom cottage in Emsworth, in the same county. The former coach house, with its ivy-covered wall-enclosed garden, she decorated tastefully. Now unattached, she started working as a sales and promotion agent for a national company. With her winning ways, she was soon easily earning £900 (US$1,350) a week with commission.

Susan prided herself on her cooking and loved entertaining, so before long she had spent £1,000 on a dinner service and new cutlery. She discarded her old wine glasses and bought new ones. A new dining table and chairs followed, then she treated herself to a new wardrobe.

Now settled in, she took stock of her life. The cottage was cute, with a cozy living room, a fireplace, a dining room where Susan had her computer workstation and a kitchen looking onto the garden. A narrow staircase with a low beam—“one has to mind your head,” she said when we visited her—led to the two bedrooms. The only inconvenience was the location of the shower room and toilet, which was reached via the kitchen—a small price to pay for such an idyllic home.

Susan’s daily routine was simple. She would work five days a week, occasionally on a Saturday, then shop for dinner, after which she would stroll down to the seafront and take in the air. On Sundays she made a point of feeding the swans on the nearby millpond, then driving over to see her mother for lunch.

In June 2001, a girlfriend, Carol, called on Susan, bringing a few bottles of wine. After dinner, she introduced her host to the website Absolute Agency. Carol was a regular visitor to the site’s chat room, and she told Susan that perhaps they could have “a little fun.”

Although she had a high-speed internet connection, Susan had never visited a site like this before and indeed said, “It would have been the last thing on my mind at the time because I believed that people who use chat rooms have no real lives.”

Within the hour and after much more wine, Susan was persuaded to log on to the site. Egged on by her friend, who seemed to know a few of the people who used it, she submitted a profile and photograph. Membership was free for women—for obvious reasons—and she became hooked. Susan chose the name “Susie Q” and selected a female avatar with blonde hair.

“I remember that night very clearly,” Susan says. “All of those people chatting away with each other. But from the moment I logged on the men spotted a new face and I had a swarm of them asking me questions. They were like bees around a honey pot and it clearly upset a number of the other girls who were online.”

The one male icon and name that attracted Susan above the others was an American called The Featherman. “He was very funny, sort of cute and sexy,” she remembers. “The other females liked him a lot, and he teased them along with a few of his male pals in there. His name conjured up the image of a ‘cheeky little duck.’ He was always saying that ducks like water and bubbles, and would anyone like to join him in the bath? It was kind of cute… I expect this sounds crazy. Anyone reading this will say I am mad.”

Carol explained that this guy was very popular. He was a regular and a fully paid-up member—meaning in chat room parlance that he had “cyber cred.” Most of the other males could chat for only 15 minutes because they had not paid to join up.

“This means The Featherman is a serious player,” Carol explained. “Full members are the elite. You get to know the serious guys and they kinda stick together like a club.”

The Featherman was intelligent and his chat was not overtly sexual. His humor was dry and all of this, combined with his cheeky little duck image, attracted Susan to him.

Over the coming days, she spent ever-longer periods in the chat room, and she admits that she started to rush home early from work and immediately logged on to the site to see if The Featherman was there.

“I would feel a pang of disappointment if he was not around,” she said. “I would ask the other members if he had been in earlier, or if anyone knew when he would be back. When he did turn up, I competed for his attentions. Looking back now I realize that I was becoming hooked on this chat room and, this may sound stupid, but I was falling in love.”

Then she made a very interesting comment: “When a woman has been rejected so many times, you start thinking too much about yourself and where you are going wrong. My ego was at an all-time low. The Featherman cheered me up, and I felt somehow wanted again.”

The man then emailed his photograph to Susan, and she returned a number of pictures of herself. They also exchanged phone numbers. He was a little shorter than her five feet nine inches, thinning on top and he had a cheeky smile. Now using his real name, Bill, he informed her that he was single and had never been married. He was a pipeline consultant who traveled the world. All of this was true. He could be away from the United States for months, he told her, while at other times he worked from an office at his home in Augusta, Georgia. Photos of his house with its manicured lawns and of a smart white car showed that he was a neat and tidy man—an ideal catch for any woman.

“Because of the time difference between our two countries, Bill usually logged on around 10:30 p.m. our time,” Susan said over dinner. “I could understand that basically he was very much a man’s man, well traveled and a guy who kept himself to himself. He wasn’t flashy or anything like that. This is why he appealed to me. We were very much like-minded, I think.”

She could never have guessed that her “ideal catch” was at the same time using other chat rooms to stalk and groom several other women from the U.K.

Knowing that Susan seriously fancied him, in the chat room Bill offered just her a Mars Bar. “You can play with this however you want,” he suggested. This offer drew some lewd comments from the other “chatterers” who were vying for his attention.

“It was so sweet of him,” Susan recalled. “A Mars Bar may sound pathetic, but it was a nice thought… a sexy one at that.

“After that, we often went into the Private Lounge area of the site, where we could chat discreetly. Often it got pretty sexual, and when we returned to the common area people would demand to know where we had been. Several of the other girls would get very bitchy.”

Susan then told us about some of the other “chatterers.” “There was a guy from Washington called ′InsultBot.′ His avatar was an aggressive face with a biker’s cap. It fitted with his rude and blunt attitude … he seemed always spoiling for a fight. ‘Wicked Maiden’ was a female American cop from New York. She was heavily into Bill, and chains and whips. There were dozens of them from all over the world. Homosexuals, bisexuals and lesbians. Some were decent, most were lonely people, others were just filthy perverts.”

Bill and Susan had known each other for about three months. They regularly wrote each other long emails and when he asked her to buy a webcam she did.

“By then, Bill had become a major part of my life. I felt good because he spent most of his chatting time with me,” she recalled. “I got very jealous when he teased the other girls, or talked to them. I wanted him all to myself. So when he asked me to get a camera and microphone, I readily agreed.”

From then on the cyber couple talked about their aspirations for the future. She used the webcam to show him her dining room, and he did likewise, showing her his office. Then they started to engage in cyber sex. Bill would tell Susan what he wanted her to wear, and during the sessions she would use a Mars Bar to satisfy herself while he masturbated.

During the fourth session she climaxed for the first time in her life.

“You know this is all very silly,” she said, clearly embarrassed. “Strangely enough, I was not at all shy with him. He told me that he hadn’t had a girlfriend for years, and I wanted to please him as much as possible… The climax? It was fantastic!”

From there, things got hotter between them.

“He would hint at a subject, just to see what my reaction would be. It was like he was fishing,” Susan explained. “For instance, he would talk about mirrors, or ask what my thoughts were on blue movies [pornography]. He asked if I had ever watched them, and I said, ‘Yes!’ Sexy mags? All that stuff. When we were hot enough we would do cyber sex, then wash and return to chat about a future—maybe together.”

Looking back on this now, Susan agrees that she was being groomed. “It was so subtle. So clever. He pretended to tease me, or ask my opinion about sexual issues. I enjoyed it because he knew when not to mention sex and, when he did, his timing was perfect.”

In early September, Bill told Susan that his business required that he visit Wales for a few weeks. From there he said he would travel on to the Middle East, but this second claim turned out to be a lie. She suggested that he might like to visit her in Emsworth and stay over. The Featherman accepted the offer immediately, and a date was set. He would arrive five days earlier than planned to spend time with her. She would drive to Heathrow Airport to collect him in her car.

On Thursday, September 27, Bill Chandler (name changed for legal reasons) arrived in the U.K. Wishing to make a good impression, Susan met him wearing an expensive, revealing leather top which accentuated her full breasts, a short leather skirt and a pair of knee-length black boots which she had recently bought in Milan while on a free trip she had won as top salesperson for her sales region. With her long, natural golden hair, she must have been a knockout and undoubtedly would have taken the man’s breath away.

“I have never felt so nervous in my life,” she says. “The plane was a bit late, too. But when he walked through arrivals he looked at me, blew me a kiss and within moments he hugged me tight and kissed my cheek.”

When they arrived at her cottage after a two-hour drive, she freely admits, “We were as hot as hell. He was the perfect gentleman and we exchanged gifts and opened a bottle of Champagne as soon as we got in the door.”

She had bought him two bath towels that had little ducks on the corner. She even got him a toothbrush and emptied one of her drawers for his clothes.

Within the hour they were in bed. Susan had complied with one of her cyber lover′s fantasies and had had large mirrors attached to the wall at the head, to the foot of the bed and to the ceiling.

“I lit candles by the bed… wrote ‘I Love You’ in lipstick on the mirrors and left a little paper trail into my spare room—squares of paper with arrows—to a place where I had hidden an expensive watch which I bought him in Italy… I even set the time for Georgia…”

At this point as we talked, Susan became visibly upset. She was clearly a warm-hearted woman who was thinking back to what might have been.

For 20 minutes we left her to clear away the plates, allowing her time to compose herself. She lit the fire, and after a while she apologized, then carried on.

“All those months of wanting him. His accent was fantastic. He just drove me crazy in bed for hours. He was insatiable. It was all so romantic. Crazy, stupid, but so romantic.”

The day after he arrived, they went sightseeing. Susan took him to “real English pubs for real English beer.” They went to Portsmouth, took long drives into the country, visited Arundel Castle, did the movies and dined out. “We went dutch at my insistence,” she says, “although he wanted to pay for everything.”

Clearly, Susan was in love. “He loved my little cottage. He loved the swans and I took photos of him with them so he could show his friends back home. He died for the English food… got friendly with people in a local pub. He fitted in straight away. I just felt so good with him. Oh, shit. Oh, fucking shit!”

On their fifth and last night in bed, Susan agreed to his suggestion that he tie her up for sex and take a few sexy photographs. “I trusted him completely,” she says. “He was adventurous, strong, quite dominant, but I felt safe with him. I wanted him to leave with the need to come back. I wanted to please him; after all it is not often that a busy professional man travels halfway around the world to spend time with a woman he has only met in cyberspace… least of all me. I was flattered… You know, I had his home address, his email address, his phone numbers… He even asked me if I would consider moving to the U.S., or said that he could easily get a job with his company here.”

Bill tied Susan’s wrists together and lashed them over her head to the top of the bed. He then pulled up her black leather skirt, spread-eagled her legs and secured her ankles.

It would be gratuitous to detail what took place other than to report that Bill then attacked her, and what followed was a rape of terrifying proportions. Susan says she was helpless under this onslaught from the powerful man. She felt a hand gripping at her throat, tighter and tighter. Her gasp for air was cut off.

“You frustrated bitch,” he snarled. “You want to be fucked like a whore and used like a fucking whore?”

Her fingers scrabbled to release his grip. Her eyes started to bulge, and then he slapped her hard across the face, chipping a front tooth.

Bill Chandler subjected Susan to a three-hour ordeal. Then he suddenly stopped and apologized. He untied her restraints and led her in a state of emotional and physical collapse downstairs to the shower, where he washed her and dressed her cuts.

An hour later, The Featherman called a taxi to take him to London. As he walked out of the door, he said, “If you call the police, I shall show them evidence of the whore you truly are. I have all your emails and photographs. Just say nothing and be pleased, ’cause I may come back again.”

Two weeks later the rapist phoned Susan from Cardiff. “He was very, very apologetic,” she said during our interview. “He told me that he had never done anything like this before… that my body and clothes brought out the devil in him… that he loved me desperately and then, with a cheeky laugh, he asked if I could scrub his back again.”

Bill sent her 20 red roses via Interflora, and Susan explained that during the several phone calls that followed she forgave him. He said that he was so ashamed of himself he had cancelled his trip to the Middle East and wanted to see her again for just one night to patch things up.

She agreed.

“You will think that I was mad,” she said. “I was mad. But when you have a guy who appears to be crying down the phone, begging forgiveness… Um… the flowers with a little card… Then when he laughs and says something like, ‘Hey! You shouldn’t have been so sexy, babe,’ it throws you.”

It was then that good luck—if it could be called good luck—intervened. The following evening, expecting Bill to turn up around 7 p.m. the next day, Susan checked her emails and logged on to the Absolute Agency site intending to say “Hi!” to everyone and leave. Almost immediately, she saw The Featherman. He was talking to another woman who she knew came from Poole in Dorset.

“I was shocked,” she said. “Then they both went off the screen for the night. I tried to phone Bill, but he would not answer my calls or SMSs. I was numb.”

Then anger, mixed up with a kind of jealousy, kicked in. She sent Bill a message telling him that all deals were off and that she was going away for a few days. She didn’t want to see him again.

During a sleepless night, Susan had a premonition that The Featherman would turn up anyway, so she arranged to visit her mother and return home about midnight. She reasoned that, if he did turn up, as previously agreed, and found she was out, he would go on his way.

She was wrong.

Bill Chandler had indeed arrived at the cottage around 7 p.m. and, so confident was he that Susan would be there, he sent the taxi driver off before he had even opened the garden gate.

“I will never forget what happened that night for the rest of my life,” said Susan. “I got home about 11:30. It was pouring rain, and the place was in darkness. I walked through the garden and let myself in. I went to the kitchen to get a drink, and when I looked out of the window I saw a man sitting on the seat under my apple tree. He just sat there and said nothing. I must have passed within feet of him and never saw a thing.”

Susan says she was very scared and pretended she hadn’t seen him. Shaking with fear, she went to go to bed and then he tapped on the front door—the only door to the cottage. She ignored him. Then he called out to her several times, softly at first, then the taps became knocks and his voice grew louder.

Then he kicked the door.

“Will you open this fuckin’ door, please? Just to fuckin′ talk.”

Although by now terrified, Susan plucked up the courage to tell him to go away.

“He started hammering on the door with his fists,” she said. “He kicked and kicked the door until I thought he would smash it down. Then I called 999 [the British emergency number] and asked for the police to come quickly as I had an intruder on the premises.”

Alone, in a cottage at night! No one knows what one would do under such frightening circumstances, so one cannot blame Susan for the actions that followed. She says that, safe in the knowledge that the police were on their way, and concerned about more damage being done to the door of the rented cottage, she called out to him to stop. Leaving the phone off the hook so that the operator could hear what was going on, she released the lock to reason with Bill. She was greeted with a punch to her face that sent her reeling backward across her front room. She fell, hitting her head on a coal scuttle.

Susan screamed and screamed.

“Within seconds he was in,” she said, “trying to grab my throat and hitting me. I told him the police were coming. He kicked me several times. He spat at me. His language was evil. Then he walked off.”

Emsworth is a small, conservative place where crime is rare. For this reason, emergencies in and around the village are attended by police based some 20 miles away, in either Chichester or Cosham, a northern suburb of Portsmouth. Unless a traffic policeman is patrolling the vicinity, response times can be up to ten long minutes.

In this case, the switchboard operator was dealing with a situation that could turn into a murder. Officers were galvanized into action, and two police vehicles arrived within four minutes of Susan’s call. No fewer than six other units sped into the village. However, because the cottage adjoined other dwellings and stood within a fully enclosed walled garden, it could only be accessed by a gate at the end of a little-used alleyway. It would take anxious officers another three vital minutes to gain entry.

Susan was bleeding. She was hysterical, and a female police officer spent an hour trying to settle her down. An ambulance was called, but her injuries were not severe and the medics treated her on the spot.

Meanwhile, Emsworth was swarming with police, and with only two main roads out of the community it was not long before Chandler was spotted. He was arrested at 1:35 a.m. trying to thumb a lift. He spent the night at Cosham Police Station while a statement was taken from Susan Gray.

“I thought about it all that night,” she said. “I knew that he would say that I had encouraged him and that he had photographs and emails recording our dates and chats on the internet. Our sex, the mirrors. It would all come out in court and be in the papers, so I did not press charges.”

Bill Chandler was released from police custody without charges being pressed. Subsequently, it was reported that he had attacked and raped a 26-year-old woman in Wales. Later, Susan said that he had raped an 18-year-old clerical worker from Poole.

We don’t know the name of Miss “A” from Cardiff. South Wales Police did receive a complaint from a teenager who was admitted to the hospital after being raped and beaten by an American man answering Bill Chandler’s description. However, the young woman also refused to press charges, and as far as the police were concerned there was nothing more they could do.

Accompanied by Susan Gray, Christopher Berry-Dee met Miss “B” from Poole. The two women had much in common, including the fact that neither had known that Chandler was stalking the other. At the time, Miss “B” worked for a large insurance company in the town and lived with her parents.

“Yes! I met him [Chandler] in AA. Yes! He was much older than me. Yes! He raped me in my car. Me and Susan have talked about him often. He pulled the same dirty stunt on me… There is not much more I want to say because my parents had warned me many times about meeting someone just a bit younger than my dad.”

Asked how this sickening experience had affected her life, she said, “What do you think? I have a steady boyfriend now… he doesn’t know anything. I still shake when I switch on my computer because I know Chandler is there somewhere. I would never do chat again. It is like he would be there watching me. Twisted bastard!”

Robert Jensen, Associate Professor of Journalism at the University of Texas at Austin, writes: “We live in a culture in which rape and battery continue at epidemic levels. And in this culture, men are masturbating to orgasm in front of television and computer screens that present them sex with increasing levels of callousness and cruelty toward women. No matter how hard it may be to face the reality of a rape culture, at least the culture still brands rape as a crime. Pornography, however, is not only widely accepted but sold to us as liberation. We know relatively much about how violent pornography influences ordinary adult men. There are negative influences on men’s attitudes toward woman. After reception of violent pornography men become more positive to rape and evaluate women more callously. All too often, rape leads to murder.”

West Sussex Police, like their colleagues in South Wales, say, “We treat all complaints of this nature very seriously. Unfortunately, if the victim feels unable to make a formal statement there is little we can do.”

The FBI are a little more encouraging. “We do know Mr. Chandler. He has a minor criminal record in the U.S. If the British Police have evidence that this man has committed serious sexual offenses, we would be grateful for this information, and he could be extradited to stand trial in the U.K.”

The FBI also say, “Many sexual predators stalk their victims over a period of time. They do it in the real world and now they use the internet. They often gain more sexual satisfaction from the stalking phase than actually committing the offense. To them stalking is control. It gives these people a feeling of power. We are unable to comment on the allegations made against Mr. Chandler… it seems that the three English women you mention are the victims of a very sick serial rapist. This man will continue to rape until he is arrested and charged. Failing that, undoubtedly he will commit murder, if he hasn’t already done so.”

Susan Gray believes that Chandler might have killed her. She no longer dates anyone, but she visits Miss “B” frequently. And Susan has seen The Featherman on the internet since her ordeal.

“I know his line of chat,” she confirmed. “He still uses the AA site but under a different name. I have tried to warn the girls but they don’t believe me. They think I am a jealous crank. One guy said, ‘Prove it, you sad bitch.’ Several women whom I knew from before told me that I was a liar. I even emailed one of them a photo of me and Bill together. She replied, ‘He can fuck me any time,’ so I don’t bother any more.”

The authors asked Susan if she had any advice for women using chat rooms and the internet to find sex or love, and her reply was diplomatic. “I would say be very careful. I suppose there are a lot of happy couples out there where things have worked out okay. But this experience has wrecked my life.”

Susan Gray has since moved from Hampshire.

The Ukraine-based Absolute Agency now monitor their chat room. Although they can ban visitors who frequently use expletives, they admit that there is nothing they can do to stop scammers or prevent the likes of Bill Chandler from looking for prey. In a statement to the authors, they confirm, “We now have a system which is called IGNORE. People can make someone invisible if they want. If we receive many complaints we terminate full membership and there is no refund. We even will ban the same person if he rejoins because we keep email addresses on file. We are not in the business of mind reading. We are in business for bringing people together and money.”

Indeed they are!

Eighty percent of Ukrainians cannot afford bread every day. Fifteen percent of the population are considered “upper-class,” meaning they earn as much as $30,000 a year. The remainder are mega-rich, and we invite you to consider the sums below.

Absolute Agency is the largest online dating/marriage business in the world. It is a major operation, with another office in Lithuania, and publishes at least 52,000 female profiles and 32,000 male profiles at any one time, with thousands of new profiles added each month. It has a chat room and video streaming linked to hardcore pornography and prostitution. Absolute Agency has links with thousands of other sites that spread around the globe and the income derived from its business places it at the top of the business league in Ukraine. And one nameless man owns it all.

While it would be fair to say that the majority of their profiles are genuine, countless thousands are not, for lurking among their members are mafia scammers, seriously deranged people and sexual deviants, including pedophiles, serial rapists and stone-cold killers. Log on and, if you are a woman, soon they could be stalking you.

Absolute Agency can buy whatever and whomever they want. We were cordially invited to visit their offices but respectfully declined, hopefully remaining on cordial terms.


Dr. Robert Johnson: Missing, Presumed Dead!

Forty-five-year-old Dr. Robert Johnson, a six-foot-three black gentleman from London, was divorced and had custody of his five children, and now he wanted a new partner. He had tried the personal columns and local dating agencies with little success.

Then he fell in love with the idea of taking a Russian woman for a bride.

Now this takes some swallowing, but Robert made this decision after watching Anna Kournikova on the tennis courts at Wimbledon. He was thoroughly smitten and seduced by the glamor of romancing in this way, and in this respect he was not alone, for at any one time at least eight million Western males are seeking a foreign bride. In 2001, it was estimated that these gamblers lost $2.5 million. Today, the figure has rocketed to over $5.8 million, and the figure is still climbing.

Unfortunately, we were unable to thoroughly access Robert Johnson’s outgoing emails because the British Police would have none of it. However, from police sources and one of his friends, we did obtain enough of the emails from the dating agency the doctor became involved with to enable us to piece together much of what took place during the period leading up to his disappearance.

He is now presumed dead—murdered!

Robert told a colleague, “They’re [Russian women] easier to talk to, they have degrees, they seem to be cheaper than Western women, they’re easier to get on with and they don’t ask for too much.”

In making this quite erroneous, somewhat bigoted assumption, Robert, who had been surfing the net for some time, obviously hadn’t done his homework. Nevertheless, in October 2001, he met a young woman who called herself Anastasia Ustinova, a 19-year-old posing as a teacher from Omsk, Siberia. The two swapped emails and she sent him seductive photographs of herself wearing a blue micro dress and white high heels.

Robert flipped and must have completed several cart-wheels. Had he known better, he would have realized that a teacher working in Siberia would be lucky to clear $50 dollars a month, $30 being nearer the mark. However, within a few weeks he would end up sending “Anastasia” the equivalent of six or more years’ wages for an average Russian.

“Anastasia has written back and said she loved me and wants to get to know me,” he told a friend. In reality, all she wanted was his money, and Robert sent her plenty of her favorite commodity to pay for generous living expenses. He also bought her a diamond ring and a gold watch. The sums involved totaled around $3,250, and that was to just to start with.

We know that, on Wednesday, October 17, 2001, Robert emailed Anastasia Ustinova and two days later she replied. On Friday, November 2, she asked for $250 for a visa, which he duly sent by Western Union Transfer.

On Tuesday, November 13, Anastasia sent an email through the Paradise of Angels marriage agency asking for $1,050 for the air ticket and for a passport, and an extra $300 for her to use while she traveled to London. The passport money apparently went astray—although it was sent at the same time as the $1,050—so she asked for a further $100, which he sent on November 14. Mysteriously, the missing money was later cashed at Western Union. Robert was losing money fast.

On November 23, his blonde bombshell wrote claiming that she had been taken ill with liver problems, so he sent her $50 to buy perfume.

Five days later, she wrote to say that she had stopped working because of her poor health. She claimed she had hepatitis C and that her mother and father were nursing her.

The New Year brought little respite for the eager Robert. She wanted money for a new cell phone and cash for credit so she could text him. Her father died suddenly—in a subsequent SMS this was changed to her father-in-law.

On January 2, 2002, Robert wired Anastasia $60 for her medical care.

A week later, he sent her two Western Union transfers totaling $135. Despite this generosity, that very same day she had the temerity to ask for $250—at least four months’ wages for her—to buy sandals as she was soon to leave the hospital.

All the money was sent via Western Union to Anastasia Ustinova, at Gazetnyi, Pereulok 6, Russia, who promptly collected the cash. She took a small percentage for herself, and wired the balance to two of her friends, who were sometimes known as Tatiana Ovdina, Tatyana Perlotva, Angelika, Anna Chuprakova, Elena Artemieva Yalena, Katya, Irina Taralanova, Oksana Stolyrenko and Olen Slepova—all residents of Ekaterinburg.

On January 26, with enough money in their pockets to be able to support themselves for several years, Anastasia and her pals hit Robert Johnson again, this time for $200 for therapy. Then, on March 4, she went the full Monty by explaining that she was going back into the hospital for another operation and even more therapy, which would cost $2,000 plus $50 a day until she was discharged.

Robert was now beside himself with anxiety. He informed Anastasia of his intentions to visit her and help her out. After a few days’ silence, during which she no doubt sought advice from her dating agency, she explained to him that he should only bring new U.S. dollars, as credit card facilities were very limited—and this much was true. Fatefully, he told her that he would bring all the required funds and that he would soon be at her bedside.

Asking a friend to look after his children, he remarked, “I feel stupid. It’s like being robbed. But you have seen her picture, she is a beautiful girl. She needs me, and I need to help her out. I am in love.”

Robert then obtained a 30-day tourist visa, numbered TY 2987847, and on March 21, after confirming his itinerary with Anastasia, he took the 10:30 p.m. Aeroflot A310 Airbus flight from London Heathrow to Moscow, arriving at 5:20 a.m. local time. He had booked a round-trip flight to Omsk through Thomas Cook and the passenger manifest shows that he sat in seat C39. On touchdown at Moscow, he passed through immigration control, caught the free shuttle bus and boarded his connecting flight at the internal airport, Sheremetyevo 1 (SVO 1).

Thereafter, Robert, carrying around $7,000 in new dollar bills and probably the only black man in Siberia, simply vanished.

Of course, for Robert Johnson and his children, this was a terrible tragedy, but at this remove it is probably instructive to remind ourselves of the sums involved. All in all, this single scam netted the dating agency around $11,000, which is the staggering, if not obscene, equivalent of 25 years’ wages to the average Russian. In the West, this equates to about $500,000.

Every year, tens of thousands of Western men travel to Eastern Europe and the Far East in search of true love. They are well catered for because more than a thousand sites advertise their brochures, videos and the “entertainment” events they organize. The phenomenon amply demonstrates how sex-tour companies and certain marriage agencies contribute to the exploitation and objectification of women and women’s bodies by promoting prostitution and pornography.

A few moments ago, we gently questioned the sanity of some of the men who go seeking love on the internet. But, of course, we have done their homework, and when you read the following you may come to the conclusion that men can be even dumber that we initially thought.

One genuine agency did furnish us with correspondence from several male clients, and as we read the letters to a totally honest woman from her prospective suitors we could see how fortunate she was not to pick any of them.

Doctors, surgeons, engineers, property developers, all queued up alongside religious fruitcakes, college dropouts and the lost and the lonely to court this girl. Several of these humanoids had “I am mentally unstable and capable of mass murder” written all over their faces and throughout the text of their letters, one of which bore an uncanny resemblance to the scribbling hand of the serial killer William Heirens, who issued the challenge “Catch Me Before I Kill Again.”

Yet, strange to relate, interspersed among these desperate refugees from Bedlam, this assortment of knuckle-dragging, body-pierced primates were a few honest, well-motivated men who were sincerely seeking love. Nevertheless, we were amused to see that one guy was generous enough to send the lady a dollar bill and a scrap of lined paper torn from a notebook to help her reply to him.

This man, from Los Angeles, said he was a high-powered engineer, yet his grammar and command of the English language said otherwise, being among the worst we have ever seen. His photo, as he stared at the camera, revealed the face of the type of hoodlum commonly seen in Mafia movies garrotting someone in the back seat of a large, black car. That this man hoped to win the heart of any discerning woman was sad.

Another of our favorite letters was a handwritten note extolling the sender′s own virtues and pledging his undying love for the recipient. He added, enthusiastically but barely legibly, this unforgettable advice: “Do not trust anyone you meet over the internet. Never meet anyone on railway stations or in bars. They may rape and kill you.”

Surprisingly, he didn’t follow this sanguine warning with an invitation to meet him under the clock by platform eight.

Of course, there were scores of letters from thoroughly decent guys. All well written and very polite, and it was clear that every one of these men was genuinely besotted with the girl. However, letters like these were outnumbered by those from out-and-out fantasists, many bordering on the lunatic fringe.

A splendid example was a typed letter from a man old enough to be her grandfather. Overweight and bespectacled, he claimed to have the strength and physique of a 20-year-old. “I follow a military exercise regime for elite soldiers,” he wrote.

Here, we thought, was God’s gift to all women. And a pillar of rectitude: he didn’t smoke and not a drop of alcohol had ever passed his lips. He also boasted that he lived on Hawaii, an earthly paradise. To back up this wild assertion, he sent a postcard of some beautiful Hawaiian scenery, adding that his house would have been clearly visible were it not for the fact that it was hidden just behind the clump of lush, green trees in the distance. On top of that, his CV read like that of a candidate short-listed for the job of Pope.

This model of all the virtues then demonstrated that he was a gifted diplomat by asking his prospective paramour, “How is your economic situation?” Oblivious to the intrusive nature of his enquiry, he further demolished his credibility by asking baldly, “Do you have any mental or physical diseases or problems? Do you smoke, drink, or use drugs?”

What woman wouldn’t melt under such a charm offensive?

At this point, we had intended to move on, but before we do we can’t resist unburdening ourselves of just one more of these lovelorn suitors.

A man of exemplary humility and modesty, “Mike” told this lass he had spent over a year searching the internet for the perfect wife. “I have looked at several thousand pictures and read all the biographies,” he said, adding, “I have researched and sorted until I have narrowed my choices down to nine women, of which you are one that I am writing to.”

A mere nine women! Wasn’t she a lucky girl! We are talking Russian Playboy centerfold material, a woman fluent in four languages and studying her fifth, Japanese, who wakes one morning to find that Dame Fortune has plucked her from obscurity and made her one of nine women that Mike has chosen as a possible candidate for a wife. She would be walking on air. No doubt he would, generously, sleep with each in turn to aid him with his selection.

Several months later, the thoughtful Mike sent her a second, identical letter, apparently having forgotten the content of his first one. Despite his clumsiness, it was the audacity of the man that appealed to us.

For this we give him credit. No, we will award him first prize!

After all, Mike was, in his own words, “a quite famous French chef.” A man who “became tired of cooking fine food in the classic manner for people who could not taste the difference…” “Romantic and very much an old Knight or gentleman” was his self-effacing description of himself. This man ignorantly assumes Russian women are so naive and stupid that they cannot read between the lines.

Any man who is keen to meet a Russian bride might be interested to learn that one of the Soviet Union’s greatest achievements is education. From being an agrarian society in which literacy was limited to the few in the upper classes, the Russian Federation has developed to achieve a literacy rate of 98 percent, among the best in the world, and truancy is unknown. Modern Russian women are a damn sight brighter than the three Western clowns featured above.
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Appendix: Hard Facts

“I was exposed to pornography for years. It led me to my violent ways.”

—TED BUNDY, CONVICTED SERIAL KILLER, TO DR. JAMES DOBSON ON THE NIGHT BEFORE HE WAS EXECUTED IN FLORIDA′S ELECTRIC CHAIR

The internet is a great place to be. Used wisely, with strict controls on which sites are suitable for our children, it can be entertaining, educational and it can bring folk of all races, ethnic groups, religions, pastimes and interests together. And it is now essential for global trade—so indispensable, in fact, that, if the internet collapsed tomorrow, the effect, in fiscal terms, would be a thousand times more devastating than the Asian tsunami or Hurricane Katrina.

Of course, the internet will not collapse. Segments of its cell-like structure may do so under the onslaught of a virus, but, in its totality, the web cannot fail. It is here to stay, and millions of people rely on it, almost as much as on the air they breathe and the food they eat.

For good or for bad, the web is the primary means of global communication. It has become a multifaceted god that we all worship. Conversely, there is the Antichrist, and this is what this book is all about.

The journey undertaken throughout this book has been a difficult one, and your authors have arrived at something resembling a conclusion—one that may find favor with many yet receive the disdain of others. But let’s not kid ourselves: access to the unfettered freedom and breadth of the web has produced a cyber environment where those with dark, subconscious desires can explore these impulses and even act them out, where the true seed of evil can propagate into flowers of destruction.

Sadly, the cases we have considered above are just the tip of the iceberg, for what follows will shock even the hardened soul.

An article in the Wall Street Journal of Monday, May 3, 2004, stated that, after carrying out a ten-year research study of 1,500 sexual addicts, Dr. Carnes from Texas estimated that about 8 percent of men and about 3 percent of women in the United States are sexually addicted—figures that translate into over 15 million sex addicts.

Citing U.S. Justice Department statistics, it said that in 1998 there were 28,000 X-rated websites, generating a revenue of $925 million in revenue. “Pornography in many forms is invading people’s homes and it is available 24 hours a day,” the article concluded. And the invasion has been quite successful. Only six years later there were ten times as many such websites, generating nearly $9 billion.

To even start to comprehend the sums involved, you will need to lie down, take a stiff drink or smoke something illegal about a foot long. Imagine you are in a vault with that amount of money all around you and you are told that you can keep each dollar bill you can initial. Say, too, for the sake of argument that you could initial one dollar bill each second and that you worked without ever stopping. How long do you think it would take to count $9 billion? Go on, take a guess. Twelve weeks? Five years?

Well, starting in 2010, if you initialed a dollar bill every second, you would make $1,000 every 17 minutes. After 12 days’ nonstop effort, you would acquire your first $1 million. So it would take you 120 days to accumulate $10 million. After 31.7 years you would become a billionaire, and in 2305 you would have counted your last dollar bill.

Reversing the procedure, if today you started handing back the bills one every second, you wouldn’t be destitute until 1715, more than 60 years before the American Revolution began.

One of the ten largest individual buyers of bandwidth in the world is a California-based firm in the adult online industry. Formerly a leading producer of pornographic movies and videos, this company’s profits were multiplied eight times over in the first year it went online. Almost from the outset, e-business, especially when it involved sex, was the place to be. To give you a few examples: at the start of 1995, there were just 200 businesses on the web selling “erotica services” and products, from condoms to pornographic videos. By 1997, it was 14,000. According to Naughty Linx, an online index, in 2004, in excess of eight million sites were selling sex products.

A search for sexual material on Yahoo between August 1995 and August 1996 revealed that in August 1995 the category “Sex” had 391 listings for phone-sex numbers, adult CD-ROMS, X-rated films, adult computer software, live sex videoconferencing, prostitution tours, escort services and mail-order bride agencies. By August 1996, there were 1,676 listings—a four-fold increase in one year. In 2005, there were 170,000 listings. That is an average of 58 new sites being added each day.

In the U.K., in 2010, there are an estimated 16 million single males. Four in ten of them use a dating service.

These “punters” (British slang for “gamblers,” which accurately characterizes the clients of online dating services) have access to no fewer than 366,000 British online dating agency listings, and Dating Direct alone boast 1.5 million male and female members on their home page. Worldwide, today there are 33 million links to online dating agencies, compared with 13.1 million in March 2003.

In the year 2009, according to Nielsen Online and the International Telecommunication Union, 1,734,000,000 people worldwide used the internet frequently—a 380-percent increase over ten years, representing about 29 percent of the earth’s population. Two hundred twenty-seven million Americans have internet access, and 6.5 percent of all male internet users are compulsive cyber-sex addicts hooked on porn sites, X-rated chat rooms or other sexual materials online.

In the U.K., at least 600,000 male internet users are hooked on cyber sex.

Cyber sex is the crack cocaine of sexual addiction and it reinforces and normalizes sexual disorder. A public health disaster is coming because very few are recognizing it as such or taking it seriously.

Recent studies, including the MSNBC/Stanford/Duquesne Study, agree that men prefer visual erotica twice as much as women. Women favor chat rooms twice as much as men. Women have a slightly lower rate of sexually compulsive internet behavior, and 70 percent keep their habit a secret.

There are over 12,200 websites—and these are just the advertised sites—dedicated to snuff rape and killings, cannibalism and necrophilia.

Every year many thousands of Western males travel to Eastern Europe, the Far East and Central and South America in search of cheap, most often sordid, sex. One company based in Miami, Florida, offers its clients tours to Costa Rica, the Caribbean and South America and advertises: “Whatever your personal preference, Latin, blonde, black, mulatto, petite, etc., [the girls] will be friendly, attentive and eager to please you.”

Sexually transmitted diseases caught through sex tourism are reaching epidemic proportions, adding to the 333 million new cases being reported worldwide each year.

Thanks to the criminals who use the internet, the United Nations estimates, between 700,000 and four million women and children are now trafficked around the world for the purposes of forced prostitution, labor and other forms of exploitation every year. Trafficking is, on its own, estimated to be a $7-billion-a-year business. Victims of trafficking are subject to gross human rights violations, including rape, torture, forced abortions, starvation and threats of torture or murder of family members.

Some 2.5 million sites promote “Boy Sex” and four million advertise “Extreme Sex.”

Despite a crackdown in recent years, the U.S. Customs Service calculates that there are more than 100,000 websites offering child pornography—which is illegal worldwide. Estimates of the industry’s revenue range from about $200 million to more than $1 billion per year. These unlawful sexual images can be purchased as easily as music, DVDs or vacations on the internet. “Subscribers” typically use credit cards to pay a monthly fee of between $30 and $50 to download photos and videos, or a onetime fee of a few dollars for single images.

The U.S. National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children reported on October 8, 2003, “More than 20,000 images of child pornography are posted on the internet every week. 140,000 child pornography images were posted to the internet according to researchers who monitored the internet over a six-week period. Twenty children were estimated to have been abused for the first time and more than 1,000 images of each child created and downloaded.” The British watchdog group Internet Watch Foundation reported that the number of child pornography images on the internet quadrupled in the next four years. The U.S. Department of Justice conservatively estimates that at any given time, despite law enforcement efforts to take them down, there are more than one million child porn images on the World Wide Web—with 91 percent depicting subjects age 12 or younger.

Professor Max Taylor, of Combating Pedophile Information Networks in Europe, stated in March 2003, “Demand for pornographic images of babies and toddlers on the internet is soaring. More babies and toddlers are appearing on the net and the abuse is getting worse. It is more torturous and sadistic than it was before. The typical age of children is between six and 12, but the profile is getting younger.”

The same report said, “Approximately 20 new children appear on the porn sites every month—many have been kidnapped or sold into sex.”

Perhaps even more disturbing is to learn that there are just under ten million websites dedicated to teen sex, each containing thousands of photographs and hundreds of streaming video clips.

And there are also the collateral financial costs to consider. Billions of dollars and pounds are lost each year to all industries and governments through staff logging on during working hours to surf the internet for sex. Individuals from all walks of life: the judiciary, police, the Church and teachers are hooked on pornography.

As we said, this is just the very tip of the iceberg. Unless we wake up, we face a cyber Armageddon.
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